ECDC PRELIMINARY GUIDANCE

Varicella vaccine in the European Union



The production of this preliminary guidance was coordinated by Paloma Carrillo-Santisteve (OCS/SRS, ECDC), Pierluigi Lopalco (OCS/SRS, ECDC) and Helena de Carvalho Gomes (OCS, ECDC).

The working group on the potential introduction of varicella vaccine was composed of the following experts (in alphabetical order):

Tomas Bergström, Clinical Virology, Sahlgren's University Hospital, Gothenburg, Sweden

Stephanie R. Bialek, Herpes virus Team Lead, Division of Viral Diseases, National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, USA

Diego van Esso, Paediatrician, Pare Claret Primary Care Health Center, Catalan Institute of Health, Barcelona, Spain

Mark Jit, Public Health England, United Kingdom

Johannes G. Liese, MD, MSc Department of Paediatrics, Paediatric Infectiology and Immunology, University Hospital, Würzburg, Germany

Hester de Melker, National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven, The Netherlands

Zsofia Meszner, National Institute for Child Health, Budapest, Hungary

Heidi Meyer, Paul-Ehrlich-Institute, Langen, Germany

Hanne Nøkleby, MD, Director, Division for Infectious Disease Control, Norwegian Institute of Public Health, Oslo, Norway

Anette Siedler, Robert Koch Institute, Berlin, Germany

Andrea Streng, PhD. Department of Paediatrics, Paediatric Infectiology and Immunology, University Hospital, Würzburg, Germany

This document is a draft and is subject to a public consultation process. The result of that process may lead to changes in the final report.

Suggested citation: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Varicella vaccine in the European Union Stockholm: ECDC; 2014.

Stockholm, April 2014

© European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 2014 Reproduction is authorised, provided the source is acknowledged

Contents

Abbreviations	iv
Preface	1
1. Executive summary	2
1.1 Main findings	2
1.2 Main conclusions and knowledge gaps	3
1.3 Recommendations	3
2. Methods	4
3. Background on varicella	5
4. Burden of varicella in Europe	6
4.1 Short description of varicella and herpes zoster surveillance systems in the European Union	6
4.2 Seroprevalence of varicella antibodies	7
4.3 Incidence of varicella	8
4.4 Force of varicella infection	8
4.5 Healthcare utilisation due to varicella disease	9
4.6 Complications due to varicella disease	.10
4.7 Varicella-related mortality	.11
5. Varicella vaccines	.13
5.1 Background	.13
5.2 Efficacy and immunogenicity	.13
5.3 Safety	.14
5.4 Post-marketing studies on varicella vaccine effectiveness	.15
5.5 Varicella vaccination recommendations in the EU/EEA	.17
6. Public health impact of varicella vaccination	.19
6.1 EU experience with varicella vaccination	.19
6.2 United States experience with varicella vaccination	.23
7. Insights from modelling	.25
7.1 Potential impact of varicella vaccination on the incidence of varicella	.25
7.2 Potential impact of varicella vaccination on the incidence of herpes zoster	.25
8. Health economic aspects of varicella vaccination programmes	.27
9. Follow-up and monitoring of varicella vaccination programmes	.28
10. Discussion	.29
11. Conclusions	.33
References	.34
Annexes	.44

Abbreviations

BVBreakthrough varicellaCDCUnited States Centers for Disease Control and PreventionCMICellular mediated immunityECDCEuropean Centre for Disease Prevention and ControlEEAEuropean Economic AreaEU/EEACountries that are members of the European Union plus Lichtenstein, Norway and IcelanGMCGeometric mean concentrationsGPGeneral practitionersHZHerpes zosterIgGImmunoglobulin GMMRMeasles mumps rubellaMMRVMeasles mumps rubella varicellaOCSOffice of the Chief Scientist	ALL	Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia
CDCUnited States Centers for Disease Control and PreventionCMICellular mediated immunityECDCEuropean Centre for Disease Prevention and ControlEEAEuropean Economic AreaEU/EEACountries that are members of the European Union plus Lichtenstein, Norway and IcelanGMCGeometric mean concentrationsGPGeneral practitionersHZHerpes zosterIgGImmunoglobulin GMMRMeasles mumps rubellaMMRVMeasles mumps rubella varicellaOCSOffice of the Chief Scientist	BV	Breakthrough varicella
CMICellular mediated immunityECDCEuropean Centre for Disease Prevention and ControlEEAEuropean Economic AreaEU/EEACountries that are members of the European Union plus Lichtenstein, Norway and IcelanGMCGeometric mean concentrationsGPGeneral practitionersHZHerpes zosterIgGImmunoglobulin GMMRMeasles mumps rubellaMMRVMeasles mumps rubella varicellaOCSOffice of the Chief Scientist	CDC	United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
ECDCEuropean Centre for Disease Prevention and ControlEEAEuropean Economic AreaEU/EEACountries that are members of the European Union plus Lichtenstein, Norway and IcelanGMCGeometric mean concentrationsGPGeneral practitionersHZHerpes zosterIgGImmunoglobulin GMMRMeasles mumps rubellaMMRVMeasles mumps rubella varicellaOCSOffice of the Chief Scientist	CMI	Cellular mediated immunity
EEAEuropean Economic AreaEU/EEACountries that are members of the European Union plus Lichtenstein, Norway and IcelanGMCGeometric mean concentrationsGPGeneral practitionersHZHerpes zosterIgGImmunoglobulin GMMRMeasles mumps rubellaMMRVMeasles mumps rubella varicellaOCSOffice of the Chief Scientist	ECDC	European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control
EU/EEACountries that are members of the European Union plus Lichtenstein, Norway and IcelanGMCGeometric mean concentrationsGPGeneral practitionersHZHerpes zosterIgGImmunoglobulin GMMRMeasles mumps rubellaMMRVMeasles mumps rubella varicellaOCSOffice of the Chief Scientist	EEA	European Economic Area
GMCGeometric mean concentrationsGPGeneral practitionersHZHerpes zosterIgGImmunoglobulin GMMRMeasles mumps rubellaMMRVMeasles mumps rubella varicellaOCSOffice of the Chief Scientist	EU/EEA	Countries that are members of the European Union plus Lichtenstein, Norway and Iceland
GPGeneral practitionersHZHerpes zosterIgGImmunoglobulin GMMRMeasles mumps rubellaMMRVMeasles mumps rubella varicellaOCSOffice of the Chief Scientist	GMC	Geometric mean concentrations
HZHerpes zosterIgGImmunoglobulin GMMRMeasles mumps rubellaMMRVMeasles mumps rubella varicellaOCSOffice of the Chief Scientist	GP	General practitioners
IgGImmunoglobulin GMMRMeasles mumps rubellaMMRVMeasles mumps rubella varicellaOCSOffice of the Chief Scientist	HZ	Herpes zoster
MMRMeasles mumps rubellaMMRVMeasles mumps rubella varicellaOCSOffice of the Chief Scientist	IgG	Immunoglobulin G
MMRV Measles mumps rubella varicella OCS Office of the Chief Scientist	MMR	Measles mumps rubella
OCS Office of the Chief Scientist	MMRV	Measles mumps rubella varicella
	OCS	Office of the Chief Scientist
SRS Surveillance and Response Support Unit	SRS	Surveillance and Response Support Unit
VPD Vaccine-preventable diseases	VPD	Vaccine-preventable diseases
VZV Varicella zoster virus	VZV	Varicella zoster virus
WHO World Health Organization	WHO	World Health Organization

Country abbreviations

- BG Bulgaria CZ Czech Republic
- DK Denmark
- DE Germany
- EE Estonia
- IE Ireland
- EL Greece
- ES Spain
- FR France
- HR Croatia
- IT Italy
- CY Cyprus
- LV Latvia
- LT Lithuania
- LU Luxembourg
- HU Hungary
- MT Malta
- NL Netherlands
- AT Austria
- PL Poland
- PT Portugal
- RO Romania
- SI Slovenia
- SK Slovakia
- FI Finland
- SE Sweden
- UK United Kingdom

Preface

2 The Vaccine Preventable Diseases programme of the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC)

has set up a working group to provide guidance to the European Union Member States on the potential
 introduction of varicella vaccination.

5 The aim of the final report of the working group is to support EU Member States in their national decision-making 6 process with regard to childhood varicella vaccination.

To assist the working group in developing an evidence-based guidance document, a systematic review of the best available evidence was commissioned along with work on varicella modelling. The systematic review was produced

available evidence was commissioned along with work on varicella modelling. The systematic review was produced
 by Pallas Health Research and Consultancy and the modelling outputs by a Framework Partnership Agreement

10 (ECDC Grant 2009/002) with Pisa University.

1. Executive summary

12 **1.1 Main findings**

¹³ Varicella is a common disease caused by the varicella zoster virus (VZV).

In the EU/EEA, antibodies to VZV are generally acquired below 10 years of age and by time they reach young
 adulthood the majority of individuals are seropositive.

However, in some countries antibodies are acquired at a much earlier age and overall, it has been observed that seroprevalence is marginally lower among children in southern and eastern European countries than in the

countries of northern and western Europe. Moreover, countries such as Belgium or the Netherlands report a higher
 seroprevalence among children under four years than other parts of Europe. This might be attributed to a climate
 gradient as well as to variations in the use of day-care and pre-school facilities and different social contacts.

21 Most neonates are seropositive at birth, in general due to the presence of passively-acquired maternal antibodies.

In the absence of vaccine, varicella continues to cause a high number of cases, potentially requiring medical visits

or hospitalisations. Differences in the study design and method of estimation make it difficult to compare the

incidence of healthcare use due to varicella in the EU/EEA. Additionally, hospitalisations will depend on the age of

infection with varicella (which differs among the countries), as the severity of varicella hospitalisations increases
 with age.

Though most persons with varicella make full recoveries, 2–6% of varicella cases attending a general practice are estimated to develop complications. The most frequent complications are skin and soft tissue superinfections, followed by neurological and pulmonary complications. Long-term sequelae have been reported in 0.4 to 3.1% of patients hospitalised from varicella infections. Most complications, hospitalisations and deaths due to varicella occurred in children who were immunologically healthy with no underlying medical conditions.

There is growing evidence that monovalent and combined varicella vaccines are highly immunogenic, efficacious and safe in preventing varicella disease. Higher vaccine efficacy has been reported with two-dose schedules. An increased risk of febrile seizures after the first dose of a combined MMRV (measles, mumps, rubella and varicella)

vaccine at age 12–23 months has been reported, however, MMRV may help achieve a higher vaccination coverage.

Varicella vaccine effectiveness has been estimated at 85%, so breakthrough varicella (BV) cases occur, mainly

after one-dose vaccination. BV is milder, with fewer skin lesions, shorter duration of the rash and fewer reported

complications. No conclusive evidence is available for different risk factors of vaccine failure; however type of
 vaccine, number of doses, age at vaccination, as well as possible primary or secondary vaccine failure could have

40 an influence.

The experience of outbreaks in vaccinated populations has shown that varicella vaccination decreases the number, size and duration of varicella outbreaks and that decreases were greater with a two-dose schedule.

43 Varicella vaccine recommendations in the EU/EEA are heterogeneous, with only five countries where varicella

vaccination is universally recommended for children at national level (CY, DE, EL, LV, LU) and two countries at

- regional level (ES, IT). Seventeen countries recommended nationwide vaccination for susceptible teenagers and/or susceptible (medical or occupational) risk groups only.
- Surveillance from countries that have implemented universal varicella vaccination in children have shown a rapid reduction in the incidence of varicella cases, varicella complications, hospitalisation rates and deaths in all age groups, both in vaccinated and in unvaccinated individuals. A relative increase in the age of infection has also been reported, due to the decrease in the number of cases in younger age groups.

51 Mathematical modelling studies predict a decrease in the incidence of varicella following the introduction of the 52 vaccine. These studies also suggest that infant vaccination may be cost-effective if there is no associated increase 53 in herpes zoster (HZ) incidence, and may even be cost-saving if productivity costs are included.

54 Modelling studies suggest that if exposure to varicella boosts immunity to HZ, then mass infant immunisation may

result in an increase in HZ in the medium term (30-75 years after the introduction of a vaccine programme) and a

- decrease afterwards. One recently published modelling study predicts that this medium-term increase in HZ is
 country-specific and is only expected in countries where HZ incidence is low due to a higher immunity boosting
 force.
- 59 Health economic evaluations on varicella vaccination programmes show that the majority of cost savings occur as a
- result of preventing indirect societal costs. When incorporating the potential effect of boosting immunity to HZ,
- 61 models are not cost-effective in the medium term. Targeted strategies (such as vaccination of susceptible
- adolescents, health care workers, transplant recipients and young migrants) appear to be more cost-effective
- 63 interventions that do not have a substantial impact on medium-term HZ incidence.

64 The surveillance systems for varicella and HZ in the EU/EEA are highly heterogeneous and in several countries

there were no systems in place at all. Most countries have no surveillance system for HZ. Continuous surveillance

of varicella and HZ is needed in order to assess the impact of varicella vaccination on both diseases. The key elements to monitor should be age-specific disease incidence and disease severity of varicella and HZ, vaccine

coverage and occurrence of adverse events. Additional years of surveillance will be needed to fully describe the

69 impact of the programmes currently running.

1.2 Main conclusions and knowledge gaps

Investigations into universal varicella vaccination in children to date have shown it to be highly effective in reducing the burden of varicella disease. However, there is limited knowledge in all of the following areas:

- duration of vaccine-induced immunity;
- optimal time for a second dose;
- potential need for further booster doses later in life;
- impact of vaccine coverage on the long-term epidemiology of the disease;
- severity of BV with an increase in time since vaccination;
- risk of increasing complications due to varicella following shifts in the mean age of infection after vaccine
 introduction;
- risk of complication in adult BV cases that occur several decades after vaccination and the potential increase
 in HZ incidence.

These gaps need more research, as they are most likely to influence the decision regarding the implementation of the vaccine.

High vaccine coverage is needed to prevent increase in the absolute number of cases in adults which would lead to
 an increase in complications. A further important factor to consider is the acceptance of varicella vaccinations by
 parents and physicians and affordability/reimbursement of the vaccine costs in order to achieve high coverage.

Moreover, differences in the incidence and disease burden of varicella in the EU/EEA, as well as the particularities of some groups (e.g. healthcare workers or women of childbearing age), should be taken into account when

- assessing recommendations on varicella vaccination at country level. These factors will have important implications
- 90 for the design and implementation of a varicella vaccination programme.

91 1.3 Recommendations

While waiting for more evidence on several aspects of varicella vaccination, countries should assess their individual epidemiological and socioeconomic situation as well as the capacity to achieve high vaccination coverage with the vaccine.

95 Monitoring the impact of varicella vaccination programmes on the epidemiology of HZ remains an important

priority. Additionally, there is a need to increase our understanding of the risk factors for the development of HZ
 and baseline trends in HZ incidence and post-herpetic neuralgia.

Better surveillance systems, as well as a prospective, sero-based study on varicella exposure and quantitative IgG
 response and HZ incidence could give clarity to some of these uncertainties.

100 **2. Methods**

- The objective of this guidance is to synthesise the available evidence on varicella and varicella vaccination in the EU/EEA.
- A systematic review of the disease burden of varicella and childhood varicella vaccination in Europe was commissioned and is available for consultation¹.
- As regards the burden of varicella, only articles referring to the EU/EEA were included. As a result of this
- 106 geographical limitation, some well-established information about the epidemiology of varicella, such as that on the 107 increased risk of severe disease among adolescents and adults, was not adequately captured. Data on disease
- severity in the EU/EEA was mainly limited to numbers of hospitalisations. Rates on varicella consultation and
- 109 hospitalisation and case-fatality rates are limited to the UK.
- As the systematic review included references up to September 2010, one author updated the sections 'Burden of varicella in Europe' and 'Public health impact of varicella vaccination in the EU/EEA' for the period 1 September 2010 to 6 July 2012, with the same search term string used in the Pallas review, but only in PubMed and Embase
- databases. The results of this update are presented in the annex.
- Additionally, ECDC commissioned work on varicella mathematical modelling to provide modelling input and advice on the effects of a VZV vaccination programme.
- 116 The project included a review of the existing models and the different contact patterns in the EU/EEA, as well as
- the production of new models, taking into account the reviewed papers and contact patterns. These reports were
- delivered to ECDC in March 2012, are included in the systematic review and have been published in peer review
 journals [1-3].
- 120 The expert panel, coordinated by ECDC, developed all the chapters of this guidance based on the systematic
- review and results of modelling work. For the guidance document, the panel took into account selected recent
- publications not included in the systematic review or its update (after 6 July 2012). When this is the case, the name and year of the reference is stated in the text.

¹ Available by contacting ECDC's Vaccine-Preventable Diseases Programme: vpd@ecdc.europa.eu

124 3. Background on varicella

- Varicella is a common disease caused by the varicella zoster virus (VZV), which typically affects children aged 2–8
 years.
- After the primary infection, VZV has the capacity to persist as a latent infection in the sensory nerve ganglia. Primary infection with VZV results in varicella (chickenpox) and reactivation of VZV causes herpes zoster (HZ) (shingles)[4].
- Factors associated with VZV reactivation include aging, immunosuppression, intrauterine exposure to VZV and having had varicella at a young age (younger than 18 months) [4], however the immunological mechanism that controls latency of VZV is not well understood. Cell-mediated immunity (CMI) appears to play an important role in the host immune response to VZV [5]. VZV reactivation and development of HZ may occur as CMI declines with advancing age or other immune-suppressing factors [5-10].
- Additionally, CMI may be boosted periodically by endogenous subclinical reactivation of latent virus or by reexposure to exogenous virus from individuals infected with varicella or HZ [11].
- 137 Scientific support for the role of external viral exposure to VZV immunity is inconclusive, with both supportive [12-
- 138 15] and non-supportive [16] [17] evidence that re-exposure to VZV may be protective against HZ development by
- boosting CMI. Ogunjimi et al. [18] recently published a systematic review of the literature concluding that
 exogenous boosting for VZV seems to exist, although it remains unknown to what extent it affects HZ incidence.
- Varicella is highly communicable and endemic to all countries worldwide. In temperate climates, at least 90% of
 the population develop the disease by age 15 years and 95% by the time they reach young adulthood. Infection
 from primary varicella usually confers lifetime immunity. The life-time risk of developing HZ was calculated to be 28%
 for England and Wales [19]. It is more usual in immunocompromised patients and patients over 50 years, and is
- 145 unusual in children [20].
- Varicella is characterised by fever and a generalised, pruritic, vesicular rash, typically consisting of 200 to 500
- lesions in varying stages of development and resolution. The rash progresses rapidly from macules to papules to
 vesicular lesions before crusting. Successive crops (usually two to four) appear over several days. The rash tends
 to have central distribution, with the highest concentration of lesions on the trunk [20]. Lesions can also occur on
 mucous membranes and cornea [4].
- Humans are the only reservoir of the infection which can be transmitted person-to-person by direct contact with respiratory secretions or inhalation of vesicle fluid (airborne spread) [20].
- The period of communicability goes from one to two days before the onset of the rash to when the lesions are crusted over, usually four to five days after the appearance of the rash. The incubation period goes from 10 to 21 days, commonly 14 to 16 days [20].
- 156 Although most people with varicella make full recoveries, complications can occur, especially in older age groups,
- pregnant women (including congenital varicella syndrome and neonatal varicella) and immunocompromised
- patients. Varicella is responsible for a substantial burden of hospitalisations, with variations among countries [20].
- The diagnosis of varicella is primarily clinical. Confirmation through laboratory tests is sought mostly in complicated cases, in populations at high risk of serious complications or for epidemiological purposes [20].

4. Burden of varicella in Europe

4.1 Short description of varicella and herpes zoster surveillance systems in the European Union

Information on varicella and HZ surveillance is available via surveys performed by European networks such as the former EUVAC.NET [21,22] or VENICE [23] In the EUVAC.NET survey [24], 79% (23/29) of the EU/EEA countries had some kind of surveillance system in place for varicella, varying widely among the countries: case-based mandatory reporting at national level (eight countries) or regional level (one country); aggregated data from mandatory reporting at national (seven countries) or regional level (one country); laboratory-based mandatory reporting at national level (two countries) and sentinel surveillance, either alone (six countrywide and one regional system) or as an additional data source (four countries).

Therefore, case definitions, cases collected (all cases vs. cases with complications), data availability (case-based vs. aggregated) and types of cases included in the surveillance (i.e. clinical, laboratory, epidemiologically-linked)

vary considerably depending on the country. Very few countries have an extensive set of variables available.

Varicella is not included in the EU/EEA list of diseases for surveillance [25]; therefore countries are not bound to a standard case definition.

Of the 17 countries with recommendations on varicella vaccination, ten relied on nationwide mandatory reporting of varicella, three on sentinel surveillance, two countries combined regional mandatory reporting with sentinel surveillance and two countries had no varicella surveillance in place. Five countries have established mechanisms for monitoring varicella vaccination coverage.

With regard to HZ, 11 countries had some form of surveillance in place (IE having a double system): clinicianbased sentinel surveillance was conducted in six countries, five on a nationwide basis (BE, FR, DE, IE, NL) and one regionally (UK -England and Wales). Six countries had other forms of surveillance (CZ, ES, IE, MT, SK, SI) and

183 eighteen countries had no HZ surveillance in place.

- The surveillance systems for varicella and HZ in the EU/EEA are highly heterogeneous or completely absent in several countries and most countries have no surveillance system for HZ.
- Even where surveillance systems exist, the degree of underreporting may be considerable, as surveillance is passive and varicella patients do not always see a doctor.
- Existing systems for surveillance of severe cases and complications are limited (in some instances national data sources have been used instead to study these outcomes).
- Vaccine coverage data are missing in several countries which have adopted varicella vaccination
 recommendations.

193 4.2 Seroprevalence of varicella antibodies

Serological studies across the EU/EEA show rapid acquisition of antibodies to VZV during early life and by 15–19 years most individuals are seropositive [12,26]. Diverse Enzyme Linked ImmunoSorbent Assay (ELISA) have been used to test for antibodies to VZV in these studies. A multi-country study by Nardone contained a procedure for

standardising to common units [12].

However, there are differences in the average age of infection between the countries, as antibodies following 198 infection are acquired at a much earlier age in some countries than in others. Overall, it was observed that 199 200 seroprevalence was marginally lower among children, adolescents and young adults in southern and eastern 201 European countries [12,27-30] than in northern and western Europe [12,31-36]. Countries such as Belgium or the Netherlands report a higher seroprevalence among children under four years than other parts of the EU/EEA. Early 202 acquisition of varicella has been attributed to the extensive use of pre-school facilities and day-care nurseries, 203 sometimes from as early as three months of age [12,37]. On the other hand, over 5% of individuals aged 20-29 204 years were seronegative in Italy, Ireland, Spain and England and Wales [12,26,38]. 205

At birth, the majority of neonates are reported to be seropositive for anti-VZV antibodies, probably due to the presence of passively acquired maternal antibodies. In the subsequent months after birth, the percentage decreases drastically to less than 10% between six and nine months and reaches a nadir by around twelve months [31,39-41]. In a 2013 study from the Netherlands, protection against varicella was estimated to last 3.4 months for new-borns whose mothers were unvaccinated [42].

None of the studies reviewed reported a significant age-specific difference in seroprevalence by sex. A study by

van Lier published in 2013 [43] found that geometric mean concentrations (GMC) for VZV antibodies were

significantly lower for women than for men aged 20 years and older, however the GMC levels were still well abovethe cut-off.

Serosurveys provide a good estimation of the age at which infection is acquired. However, in most of the studies reviewed, there was no randomly selected representative sample of the population. As an alternative, residual

specimens of sera taken for routine diagnostic tests were used to estimate the seroprevalence.

218 4.2.1 Seroprevalence in specific groups

219 Healthcare workers

Healthcare workers are at higher risk of exposure due to the nature of their work. Furthermore, varicella infection in healthcare workers could result in nosocomial transmission of the infection to susceptible persons in whom varicella could be more severe, such as immunocompromised individuals or pregnant woman.

Seven studies were found that reported the prevalence of anti-VZV antibodies among healthcare workers and
 medical students. This prevalence was relatively high, ranging from 87.8% to 99.6% [44-50]. Seroprevalence
 figures for medical students were marginally lower (92.4–98%) [47-49] [50] than for healthcare workers

(94.5%-99.6%) [44-46,49]. One study showed that healthcare workers under 26 years were twice as likely (95%
 CI: 1.2 to 3.2) to be susceptible to varicella than those over 40 years (12.2% versus 6.6%, respectively) [49].

228 Pregnant women

In five [51-53] of the seven studies on varicella seroprevalence in pregnant women, less than 5% of pregnant
 women were seronegative to VZV antibodies. However, a Spanish study [54] found 12% of pregnant women aged
 29–35 years to be seronegative and an Italian study found 10.6% of those aged 15-49 years to be seronegative
 [55].

233 Non-EU born/immigrants

In a Dutch study [56], seroprevalence for varicella was lower among first generation immigrants (90–92%) than among those born in the Netherlands (97–98%). Additionally, data from van Lier in 2013 [43] found that in children under six years, seroprevalence was lower among first-generation immigrants (53.8%) than among Dutch children (64.0%). A study conducted in the UK [57] found 85% of pregnant Bangladeshi-born women seropositive compared to 93–95% of those born in the UK.

239 **Conclusions**

- Overall, VZV circulates widely in all EU/EEA countries and in most countries the acquisition of antibodies to VZV takes place between the ages of two and ten years.
- Antibodies are acquired at a much earlier age in some countries than in others.
- Most neonates are seropositive at birth, due to the presence of passively acquired maternal antibodies.

244

245 4.3 Incidence of varicella

In most of the studies reviewed, the incidence of varicella had been estimated retrospectively using data from
 surveillance networks (or hospital-based records in some countries for EUVAC.NET). Only five studies reported
 incidence based on prospective follow- up of the study population.

The literature review confirmed that varicella cases primarily occur in the younger age groups. The studies included have reported that 52–78% of the incident cases occur in children six years or under and 89–95.9% of the cases occur before adolescence (i.e. under 12 years of age) [26].

Reported, standardised annual incidence per 100 000 population ranged from 300–1 291 in western Europe (FR, NL, DE, UK) [32,41] [58-60], to 164-1240 in southern Europe (IT, ES, PT, SI)[29,58,61-71] and 350 in eastern Europe (PL, RO)[72,73]. Overall, these results indicate that varicella is a common infection in childhood.

The annual incidence of cases among children 1-4 years old was found to vary from 1.580-12.124 cases per 100,000 population and among children 0-4 years old from 4.400-18.600 per 100,000 population [63,64,72,74].

The incidence of varicella per age group was found to vary depending on the country or region within the EU/EEA. Incidence rates in the age group 0–4 years were found to be four to six times those in the age group 5–14 years in in western and northern European countries, compared with two to three times for southern and eastern European countries [74]. This may reflect different contact patterns of children in the various countries.

Data from EUVAC.NET [75] show that in 2010, a total of 592 681 varicella cases were reported from 18 countries

that provided epidemiological data based on mandatory notification systems covering the total country population.

- The highest incidence was reported from Poland, Czech Republic, Estonia and Slovenia (481, 459, 458 and 444 cases per 100 000 inhabitants, respectively). The countries which contributed most cases were Poland (31% of the
- total), Spain (27%) and Czech Republic (8%).
- For the 72% of the cases where age was known, 3% were <1 year old, 41% were 1–4 years of age, 38% were 5– 9 years, 10% were 10–14 years, 3% were 15–19 years and 6% were over 20 years.

268 **Pregnant women**

Only two studies from the UK have reported on the incidence of varicella during pregnancy [76,77]. The incidence of varicella requiring hospitalisation in pregnant women was reported to be six cases per 10 000 hospital deliveries in one study (69). In the other study, the overall incidence of varicella in pregnant women was reported to be 0.38 per 1 000 live births [77].

273 Conclusions

- Findings confirmed that reported cases of varicella primarily occur in the younger age groups. The studies
 included have reported that 52–78% of the incident cases occur in children aged six years and under and
 89–95.9% of the cases occur before adolescence (i.e. before 12 years of age.)
- The incidence of reported cases of varicella per age group was found to vary depending on the country or region within the EU/EEA.

4.4 Force of varicella infection

A few studies conducted in EU/EFTA countries have reported on the age-specific force of varicella infection (rate at which susceptible individuals become infected) [12,78,79].

In general the highest force of infection was amongst 5–9 year olds in all countries. However, in some countries such as Belgium the highest force of infection was found in the younger age group.

Additionally, a wide variation has been found in the herd immunity thresholds for varicella infection (the proportion of the population that needs to be immunised in order to eliminate endemic transmission of infection and thus eradication of the disease). The thresholds estimated ranged from 70% in Italy to 94% in the Netherlands.

287 Conclusions

• Varicella infection may be sensitive to differences in mixing patterns, especially in the younger age groups.

4.5 Healthcare utilisation due to varicella disease 289

4.5.1 Hospitalisations due to varicella 290

Most of the hospitalisation data come from ad-hoc studies and from EUVAC.NET surveillance reports. 291

Differences in study design and method of estimation make it difficult to compare the incidence of hospitalisations 292 due to varicella in the EU/EEA. Additionally, the data also depend on the age of infection for varicella among the 293 294 countries, as the severity of varicella among those hospitalised increases with age.

Studies from European countries show that standardised annual incidence of hospitalisations due to varicella 295 ranged from 1.9-5.8 per 100 000 population [77,80-83] (unstandardised incidence 1.3-23.06 per 100 000 296 population) [41,65,74,79,84-88]. 297

Overall, the incidence of hospitalisations due to varicella decreases with age in all countries. However, it is 298 important to mention here that almost none of the studies in Europe take into account the denominator of varicella 299 cases [69,89], only the total population. As varicella continues to be a childhood disease in the main, the higher 300 number of hospitalisations in children is likely to reflect the higher number of cases in these age groups rather than 301 the severity of the disease. 302

The highest incidence is found in the youngest age group (0-12 months), with a range from 23–172 303

hospitalisations per 100 000 population [41,74,79,81,84,86,87,90,91]. According to one study in Spain [87], 58.4% 304 of hospitalisations occur among children <10 years. In the UK, 70% occur in children <15 years [92]. Studies that 305 have reported the incidence of hospitalisation in adults suggest a higher hospitalisation rate in the age range 25-306 44 years, compared with other adult age groups [74,79,87,88,90], even though few cases are expected in older 307

age groups 308

The mean length of hospital stay for all ages was found to vary between three and eight days [41,77,81,87,89,91-309

100]. In general, the duration was found to be dependent on age (longer for adults than for children) and on the 310 presence and type of complications (up to 12.3 days in children and 9.1 days in adults for varicella-induced 311 312 pneumonia or bronchitis) [93].

According to the country, the incidence of varicella hospital admissions per 100 000 children in those below 15 313 years was 23 in France [74,98]. In children younger than 16 years it ranged from 6.8 in the Netherlands [101] to 314 26 in France [84,91] and in Germany it was 14.1 [91] in children <17 years. 315

EUVAC.NET has published reports on hospitalisations due to varicella for the years 2000–2007 [102], 2008–2009 316

[103] and 2010 [75]. These reports provide an overview for the countries with epidemiological data obtained 317 through mandatory notification systems covering total country populations. Comparison by age group and country 318 is not possible as only the number of cases, and not hospitalisation rates are presented. 319

In 2010, the last year with data available, data on hospitalisation were provided by 10 countries [75]. There were 320

1 647 hospitalised cases (0.9% of reported varicella cases in these countries). Most were aged 1-4 years (31%, 321

n=504), followed by those aged 5–9 years (16%, n=279) and those aged 20 years and over (15%, n=242). No 322

population rates are available. The highest hospitalisation rates were seen among those under one year of age 323 (6%, 160/2 709 cases), among those aged 15–19 years (4%, 65/1 743) and those over 20 years (7%, 242/3 325). 324 The findings are similar to those reported in previous years. 325

4.5.2 Primary care visits due to varicella 326

Limited studies were found on general practitioner (GP) consultations for varicella in EU/EEU countries. Additionally, 327 health-seeking behaviour and attitudes towards varicella may differ among countries within Europe and this in turn 328 will influence the burden of varicella on primary care, making the studies difficult to compare. Therefore, 329 consultation rates should not be interpreted as varicella incidence rates. 330

A sentinel surveillance study in Wales, including 30 volunteer general practices with 226 884 registered, reviewed 331 the epidemiology of varicella for the years 1986-2001 [104]. The annual number of varicella consultations for all 332 age groups ranged from 770 to 2 605 cases per year, with the maximum for children under five years. Brisson and 333 Edmunds found that the average GP consultation rate for varicella and zoster between 1991 and 2000 in England 334 and Wales [92] was 522 per 100 000 persons/year, with an age-specific rate of 4 459 for children aged 0-4 years. 335 The same study found changes in the age-specific varicella consultation rates over time: although the consultation 336 rates had remained relatively stable in children under five years between 1991 and 2000, the rate in older children 337 (5-14 years) and adults (older than 15 years) had roughly halved[92]. 338

In the Netherlands, a retrospective cohort study found a total of 254 GP consultations per 100 000 population per 339 year [41]. Here too, the incidence of GP-consultations was highest in childhood, with a small peak in incidence 340

341 among 25-34 years olds (contacts with young children who have high infection frequency).

342 Conclusions

- In Europe, the incidence of hospitalisations due to varicella per 100 000 population was found to decrease
 with age in all countries. However, data on varicella case hospitalisation rates is scarce in Europe. Therefore,
 the higher number of hospitalisations in younger ages may reflect the higher number of cases in these age
 groups rather than the severity of the disease.
- The duration of hospital stay was found to be dependent on age (longer for adults than for children) and on the presence and type of complications.

Differences in the study design and method of estimation make it difficult to compare the incidence of
 hospitalisations due to varicella in the EU/EEA. Additionally, hospitalisations depend on the age of varicella
 infection among the countries, as the severity of varicella hospitalisations increases with age.

4.6 Complications due to varicella disease

Varicella is usually a mild disease. However, serious complications and death can occur. Overall, 2–6% of varicella cases attending a general practice are estimated to develop complications [26]. Type and severity of complications may vary among populations or age groups. Comparison of specific complication rates is difficult, as the applied definitions vary between studies.

The most frequent complications are skin and soft tissue superinfections, reported in 8–59% of all hospitalised cases [32,62,67,73,77,84-86,88,91,93,94,96,98-100,105-108]. In France, one study reported an incidence of bacterial skin complications of 7.5 per 100 000 children and severe bacterial skin complication of 3.7 per 100 000 children [107].

361 Neurological complications are the second most frequent, reported in 4-61% of all hospitalised children

362 [62,65,67,73,77,85,86,88,91,96,98-100,105,109-111]. In Germany, the overall incidence of neurological

complications in children ≤16 years of age was estimated as 2.4 per 100 000 population [91,112] (corresponding

to 4.9 neurological complications per 10 000 varicella cases). In the Italian region of Tuscany, the incidence of

central nervous system complications in children 14 years or younger ranged from one to 3.5 per 100 000

depending on the year studied (0.5–1.7 per 1 000 varicella notified cases) [110]. The incidence of meningitis/meningo-encephalitis was reported to be 2.1 per 100 000 population in Slovenia [71], whereas in the

Netherlands the incidence of acute cerebellar ataxia is estimated to be 0.25 per 100 000 population [81].

369 Complications of the respiratory system, especially pulmonary complications have been reported in 3–22% of

hospitalised cases [85,91,100]. The main clinical manifestations include pneumonia (due to VZV or other pathogens) and otitis media [65,67,76,88,91,99,106]. In Slovenia, the reported incidence of pneumonia is 0.8 per

372 100 000 population [71].

Other complications (i.e. gastrointestinal, hepatic and haematological) have been also reported [62,67,91,99,100]. In Tuscany, the incidence of hospitalisations due to complications of the non-central nervous system (respiratory, renal, haematological, osteoarticular and infectious) ranged from 8.3–12.0 per 100 000 children (4.9–5.6 per 1 000 varicella notified cases) [110].

Long-term sequelae have been reported in 0.4–3.1% of patients hospitalised due to varicella infections [91,96,105] and in up to 40% of patients hospitalised from varicella due to severe complications [102]. Possible long-term sequelae have been reported in 8.7% patients hospitalised due to varicella [91]. Most frequent sequelae included

severe cutaneous scarring, ataxia/coordination disorders, epilepsy or cerebral nerve paralyses.

Varicella is a serious infection at any stage of pregnancy. Varicella in the first 20 weeks of pregnancy has been associated with an incidence of congenital varicella syndrome (0.91%) [113], at 0–12 weeks gestation with an incidence of 0.4% and at 13–20 weeks gestation with an incidence of 2% [114]. Maternal varicella four days before to two days after delivery can cause generalised neonatal varicella, which leads to death in about 20% of untreated cases [113]. Moreover, in pregnant women with varicella, there were instances of varicella pneumonia in 10–20% of the cases [115].

The severity of varicella varies with the age of the individual. Following a high risk of complications during pregnancy and around birth (congenital varicella syndrome and neonatal varicella), the risk of complication is low during the first three months of life, probably due to the presence of maternal antibodies [116]. Subsequently, the risk of severe varicella is higher in infants and adults than in children [74]. Data on complications in Europe mainly relates to the incidence of complications and data on hospitalisation rates among varicella cases is scarce.

In Germany, a country-wide sentinel surveillance system initiated after implementing routine varicella vaccination [106] reported that most of the complications occurred in 0–4 (59%) and 5–9 (31%) year-olds, however, as stated above, these data may just reflect the fact that these are the age groups where most cases occur.

In one study the incidence of complications in individuals under 16 years was reported as 8.5 per 100 000
 population [108].

- 397 The type of complications are also reported to vary with age: the most common complications for children under
- ³⁹⁸ 12 years are bacterial superinfections, otitis media, pneumonia and bronchitis. For the older age group, bacterial
- superinfections and lower respiratory tract infections are the most common [32]. It has also been observed that
- 400 neurological complications usually occur in older age groups, whereas severe bacterial superinfections occur in
- 401 younger age groups[91].

Being immunocompromised is a risk factor for severe varicella [117]. However, most complications and 402 hospitalisations for varicella were found to occur among children who were immunologically healthy with no 403 underlying medical conditions [87,91,96,106,109]. Among 3 632 primary varicella-related hospital discharges in 404 Spain (all ages), 8% had an underlying condition recorded [87]. In the Netherlands, a study on hospital admissions 405 due to varicella from 2003 to 2006 reported that 39% of hospitalised cases had an underlying condition [101]. In a 406 study of 1 575 paediatric hospitalised varicella cases in France, 8.3% of cases had corticosteroid therapy, 1.3% 407 had received immunosuppressant chemotherapy and 4.1% had an underlying disease [96]. A prospective German 408 study, including 918 varicella hospitalised cases where 7% were immunocompromised, showed that varicella 409 complications, including coagulation disorders, lower respiratory tract complications and systemic bacterial 410 infections, were significantly more frequent (p<0.001) in immunocompromised than in immunocompetent children. 411 In contrast, the most common complications, such as neurological (p < 0.054) and skin infection complications 412 (p<0.012) were significantly more frequent among immunocompetent children [91]. 413

EUVAC.NET reports incidence data on complications in hospitalised cases due to varicella for five countries in 2008,
2009 [103] and 2010 [75] (GR, HU, NO, SK and SL for 2008–2009; EE, GR, HU, SK and SL for 2010). A total of 90
cases with complications were reported in 2008, 75 in 2009 and 153 in 2010.

These results have to be interpreted carefully, as it is possible that the assumption of causality between disease
 and potential complications could have resulted in misclassifications. Additionally, comparison of specific
 complication rates is not easy as studies adopted different classification methods.

420 **Conclusions**

- Though most persons with varicella make full recoveries, 2–6% of varicella cases attending a general practice are estimated to develop complications.
- The most frequent complications are skin and soft tissue superinfections, followed by neurological and pulmonary complications.
- Long-term sequelae have been reported in 0.4 to 3.1% of patients hospitalised due to varicella infections.
- Varicella is a serious infection at any stage of pregnancy both for the mother (higher morbidity/mortality
 than in non-pregnant adults) and for the child (can lead to congenital varicella syndrome or neonatal
 varicella).
- The risk of severe morbidity is higher in immunocompromised children, however most complications and
 hospitalisations involving varicella occurred in those who were immunologically healthy with no underlying
 medical conditions.
- The risk of severe varicella and complications is higher in infants and adults than in children.
- Type of complications may vary among populations or age groups. Neurological complications usually occur at an older age.
- Comparison of specific complication rates is difficult, as almost every study adopted different classification methods.

437 4.7 Varicella-related mortality

Case fatality ratios in studies from EU/EEA countries vary from 0.01% to 5.4% among hospitalised cases of 438 varicella [65.83.86-88.90.91.95.97.100.104.109.112.116.118.119]. In a study in England and Wales from 1993 to 439 2000 an average of 25 people a year died of varicella (0.05 deaths per 100 000 population-year); the age-specific 440 case-fatality rate was low in children (less than 1 per 100 000 cases) but increased dramatically in adults (nine 441 deaths per 100 000 cases in 15-44 year olds, 73 deaths per 100 000 in 45-64 year olds and 689 deaths per 442 100 000 cases in those over 65 years) [92]. Other studies found that subjects over 15 years are at 16 to 30-fold 443 greater risk of dying than children aged 1-4 years. However, the mortality rate among adults is not uniformly 444 distributed, as most deaths occur among the elderly [74,77,92]. A potential misclassification of varicella as a cause 445 of death in the elderly has to be taken into account. One study in the UK has assessed that 20% of varicella death 446 certificates were misclassified as HZ [120]. 447

In general, most of those who died of varicella were reported to have been previously healthy individuals.
Population-based studies found that underlying conditions were present in approximately 20–30% of the deaths
(generally immunosuppressive disorders such as acute lymphoblastic leukaemia) [74,88,89,91,95,116,121].

The common causes of death reported were septicaemia [89,91,95,105,109,116], pneumonia (due to VZV or other pathogens) [88,91,105,116], acute respiratory distress syndrome [91,116], myocarditis [105], endotoxic shock

- [95,105] or encephalitis [88,89,95]. Two studies reported fatalities among infants born with congenital varicella
 syndrome [91,116].
- Accuracy of data regarding mortality can be affected by misclassification of the cause of death.

- Case fatality rates were found to vary from 0.01% to 5.4% among hospitalised cases of varicella.
- Persons over 15 years of age have a greater risk of dying than children aged 1–4 years.
- Most of those who died of varicella were reported to have been previously healthy individuals.

460 **5. Varicella vaccines**

461 5.1 Background

In 1974, Takahashi and colleagues at the University of Osaka developed an attenuated strain of varicella virus
 suitable for vaccine production. This strain, called the OKA-strain, is used in production of varicella vaccines
 licensed in Japan, Europe, USA, and the vast majority of countries worldwide. One of the first clinical trials using an
 OKA strain containing vaccine included 70 healthy children in Japan exposed to household contacts with varicella.
 The vaccine offered definite protection when given within three days of exposure.

Several dose-ranging studies and double blind protection trials followed. In most studies the vaccine gave a high
 degree of protection, but vaccine failures were registered in those vaccinated, including very young children,
 children with asthma or eczema, and children treated with corticosteroids, and the incidence of failures increased
 with the period of time since vaccination.

471 Since immunocompromised children are at high risk of complications or even death due to varicella, clinical trials of 472 varicella vaccination of children with acute leukaemia or other malignant diseases were started in the late 1970s. 473 The results showed that immunosuppressed subjects could be safely vaccinated if chemotherapy was suspended 474 around the time of vaccination, provided that they had acceptable lymphocyte counts or were in remission. To date 475 vaccination of children and adults in regular or close contact with high-risk individuals is widely recommended in 476 Europe.

Several monovalent and combined varicella vaccines authorised in the EU/EEA were derived from the parenteral 477 OKA strain by further passaging in cell culture. These vaccines are distinct in their virus passage history and 478 vaccine composition. The currently licensed monovalent vaccines Varivax (OKA/Merck) and Varilrix (OKA/RIT) 479 contain no less than 1 350 and 2 000 plaque-forming units (PFU) respectively per dose at expiry. In order to 480 support the implementation of routine varicella vaccination and to accommodate childhood vaccination 481 programmes worldwide, two combined MMRV live attenuated vaccines (ProQuad, Priorix Tetra) were developed. 482 However, due to immunological interference of the different virus vaccine components observed in clinical trials, 483 484 the composition of the combined MMRV vaccines had to be adapted. In the final approved formulation of Priorix Tetra the amount of mumps virus was increased while the varicella virus concentration remained the same as in 485 Varilrix. In contrast, the varicella virus concentration was increased from at least 1 350 PFU per dose in Varivax to 486 at least 9 900 PFU per dose in ProQuad. The three other vaccine components in ProQuad correspond to the 487 approved virus concentration in the respective MMR (measles, mumps and rubella) vaccine. 488

Results of vaccine efficacy, immunogenicity and safety obtained from controlled, randomised clinical studies of
 healthy children are summarised in Sections 5.2 and 5.3. For vaccine effectiveness data reported after
 implementation of routine immunisation programmes see Chapter 6.

492 5.2 Efficacy and immunogenicity

Protective vaccine efficacy against varicella disease was demonstrated in various randomised, controlled clinical 493 trials in healthy children [122-124] [125,126]. In early clinical trials employing varicella vaccines with various live 494 virus concentrations, protective vaccine efficacy in healthy seronegative children varied between 72-100% 495 following administration of a single dose [Pallas 181, 182]. Further studies compared the protective efficacy 496 following a one-dose with a two-dose vaccination regimen for different varicella-containing vaccines [122-124]. In 497 498 a study employing the OKA/Merck strain, the estimated vaccine efficacy against all severities of varicella disease for 499 a 10-year observation period was 94% for one dose and 98% for two doses of a monovalent vaccine. Both the one- and two-dose regimens were 100% efficacious against severe varicella [122]. Vaccine efficacy for the 500 OKA/RIT strain was assessed over a follow-up period of 35 months in an actively controlled, randomised clinical 501 trial of children in their second year of life. Vaccine efficacy against confirmed varicella of any severity was 502 reported to be 65.4 % after one dose of an OKA/RIT-containing vaccine and 94.9% after two doses. Vaccine 503 efficacy against moderate or severe confirmed varicella was found to be 90.7% after one dose and 99.5% after 504 two doses [123,127]. In these clinical efficacy trials the relationship between primary antibody responses and the 505 risk of post-vaccination BV was assessed using statistical modelling, since no commonly accepted surrogate marker 506 for protection has been established. A continuous relationship between antibody titre and the probability of 507 508 experiencing a BV event was demonstrated although no antibody titre correlated absolutely with protection. Using a glycoprotein based enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (gpELISA), a post-vaccination antibody titre of ≥5 509 gpELISA units/ml was defined as an approximate correlate for protection, whereas a titre of ≥50mIU/ml was set as 510 the threshold for a commercially available whole-cell ELISA assay to calculate response rates [128] (unpublished 511 data). In addition, VZV-specific antibody responses were measured by immunofluorescence assays (IFA). A serum 512 dilution of 1:4 or higher was considered positive. Immunofluorescence antibody titres correlate with neutralising 513 antibody titres and it was found that a titre of more than 1:4 at the time of exposure correlates with protection 514

against chickenpox after vaccination and natural infection [129].

516 Immunogenicity of varicella vaccines was evaluated in children, adolescents and subjects at risk in numerous

clinical trials following different vaccination schedules and administration methods and using serological assays
 with different levels of sensitivity. After primary vaccination of seronegative healthy children in their second year of

519 life with a single dose of monovalent varicella or MMRV vaccine, seroconversion rates against varicella of 85–100% 520 were reported [130-136]. The response rates were comparable, irrespective of whether a single dose of

521 monovalent varicella vaccine was given concomitantly with a single dose of MMR vaccine or subsequently (six

weeks apart), or whether a single dose of combined MMRV vaccine was administered [130,132,134,135,137-139]. Moreover, the route of administration (i.e. either subcutaneous or intramuscular injection) had no impact on the

immune response [140,141].

525 Comparison of immune responses following a one or a two-dose vaccine regimen revealed that a significant 526 increase in antibody levels (approx. 10–20-fold) and higher seroconversion rates were elicited among the two-dose 527 vaccine recipients than in subjects receiving a single dose. This booster effect was achieved irrespective of the time 528 interval between administration of the first and second dose. Comparable antibody levels and response rates were 529 obtained regardless of whether the second vaccine dose was given 6–12 weeks or 3–6 years after the first dose 530 [134,138,142-144].

Data comparing the immune responses of children and adults/adolescents indicate that the vaccine is less immunogenic in adults and adolescents. In early clinical trials of monovalent varicella vaccine, seroconversion rates of over 95% were reported among children and adolescents up to 12 years after a single dose, while adolescents aged 13–17 years only had a seroconversion rate of 79% [131]. Due to the application of a low cut-off level in the serological assay these data most likely overestimate the protective antibody responses. In other studies it was found that antibody response against varicella was less vigorous in seronegative adult subjects than in children and that a second dose significantly increased the response rates [145,146].

In an era of external exposure to varicella, antibody persistence was demonstrated for a period of up to nine years post vaccination using a one and two-dose vaccination regimen [122]. An increase in antibody levels was observed in the first years following vaccination, particularly in one-dose vaccine recipients, indicating a boost in antibody levels following exposure to circulating wild-type virus. Subjects who received two vaccine doses within three months generally had higher antibody concentrations during the first three years compared to single dose recipients. However, there were no significant differences in antibody levels between the one and two-dose regimen by the end of the nine-year time period.

545 Conclusions

- Efficacy and immunogenicity results obtained in controlled clinical studies confirm that monovalent and
 combined varicella vaccines are highly immunogenic and efficacious in preventing varicella disease. Efficacy
 is higher against severe varicella than against less severe varicella.
- A two-dose vaccination regimen results in higher seroconversion rates and vaccine efficacy than a singledose administration.
- A second dose given six to twelve weeks after the first dose elicits comparable antibody responses to the administration of a second dose at 3-6 years.
- There is a continuous relationship between antibody titre and the probability of BV, even though a protective antibody titre has not been defined.
- Gaps and uncertainties include the duration of immunity, the risk of complications in BV cases many years after vaccination, the need and optimal timing for booster doses and long-term effects of varicella vaccination (e.g. maternal antibody levels in new-borns from varicella-vaccinated mothers.)

558 **5.3 Safety**

- 559 For varicella and MMRV vaccines a substantial safety database is available from clinical trials and through 560 worldwide post-marketing experience, with millions of doses distributed.
- In clinical trials of children aged 12 months or older, monovalent and combined varicella vaccines were monitored
- for up to 42 days after each vaccination. The vaccines were generally well tolerated following one- or two-dose
- vaccine regimens. The most frequently reported adverse events were injection site reactions such as pain, redness
- 564 or varicella-like rash, which were mostly mild and transient. The most commonly reported vaccine-related systemic 565 reaction was fever.
- No serious adverse events were observed for monovalent vaccines and very few were reported for MMRV vaccines.
 Serious adverse effects following vaccination with MMRV included febrile convulsion, urticarial allergic reaction,
 fever, cough and bronchiolitis [139]. All subjects recovered without sequelae.
- 569 For the combined MMRV vaccines the incidence of adverse reactions did not differ significantly from the
- 570 concomitant use of MMR and varicella vaccines. The only vaccine-related systemic adverse reactions reported at a
- significantly greater rate in MMRV recipients were fever and a measles-like rash [139]. As expected, injection site

reactions were reported at a statistically lower rate in individuals who received the combined MMRV vaccine than
 for concomitant use of varicella and MMR vaccine.

Post-marketing experience with varicella and MMRV vaccines generally confirmed the safety profile established in

clinical trials. In all age groups a low number of rare, serious adverse reactions were experienced [147]. Chaves et

al [148] reviewed the US Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System data from 1995 to 2005 and found 2.6 serious

adverse events per 100 000 doses distributed. In children, a higher proportion of reports related to varicella
 vaccine administered in combination with other vaccines were classified as serious than the proportion of reports

related to varicella vaccine administered alone [148]. The most frequently reported serious adverse events that were most likely related to varicella vaccines were severe disseminated varicella, pyrexia, convulsions and HZ.

It was found that the vaccine-strain may cause severe or even fatal varicella disease in immunocompromised
 subjects [Maves et al. 2013]. However, the risk of varicella vaccine virus being transmitted from healthy persons to
 susceptible contacts is very low. With more than 55 million doses of VARIVAX distributed, transmission from
 immunocompetent persons after vaccination has been documented by PCR analysis in only five persons, resulting
 in six secondary infections, all of them mild [149].

As regards reported HZ cases, laboratory tests demonstrated that they might be associated with vaccine or wildtype varicella virus [150,151], indicating reactivation of the vaccine virus strain and BV events. Some cases of HZ were associated with meningitis and encephalitis, but only in one case of a mild form of encephalitis was the OKA vaccine strain detected by PCR [141, 145]. Surveillance data on vaccinated individuals suggest no increase in the frequency of HZ in this population [152]. However the long-term effect of varicella vaccination on the incidence of HZ is unknown at present.

In addition to the neurological complications associated with HZ, isolated cases of encephalitis, meningitis and cerebellar ataxia were reported, which are known to also occur following wild-type varicella infection. None of the clinical specimens tested by PCR were found to be positive for the OKA vaccine strain [147].

For combined MMRV vaccines, the most salient safety finding after widespread use in routine practice was an 595 increased risk of febrile seizures. Analyses of post-marketing studies in children receiving their first dose of MMRV 596 vaccine have shown that febrile seizures occurred more frequently five to twelve days after vaccination compared 597 to children vaccinated concomitantly with varicella and MMR vaccine [153] [154] [155]. Among 12-23-month-old 598 children the risk of febrile seizure occurring was determined to be twice as high in MMRV vaccine recipients during 599 the seven to ten days after the first dose. This means that one additional case of febrile seizures was observed for 600 every 2 300 MMRV doses given [154]. Similar observations were reported for a matched cohort study performed in 601 Germany [155]. No increased risk was observed following a second dose. As a result of these findings the national 602 recommendations for use of MMRV vaccines were revised in the USA and Germany. 603

604 **Conclusions**

- The most common adverse reactions following varicella vaccine are local reactions, such as pain and erythema.
- Monovalent and combined varicella vaccines are generally well tolerated, with the exception of an increased risk of febrile seizures after a first dose of a combined MMRV vaccine at age 12–23 months.

5.4 Post-marketing studies on varicella vaccine

610 effectiveness

This section presents information on BV and varicella outbreaks in vaccinated populations. For effectiveness studies conducted in countries with universal varicella vaccination, see Chapter 6.

613 5.4.1 Breakthrough varicella

- A BV infection is defined as a case of wild-type varicella that occurs in a vaccinated person more than 42 days after varicella vaccination, following exposure to wild-type virus.
- 616 BV is usually mild, with less than 50 skin vesicles compared to 200-400 lesions in immunologically naive patients 617 [156-158].
- 618 Several observational studies have reported frequency of BV in vaccinated individuals and results vary significantly
- between studies and years of observation [159-165]. This may be related to differences in the studies regarding
- vaccination coverage, type or dose of vaccine administered, study population (e.g. age) or time since vaccination.
- 621 Seward et al estimated in a review that a single dose of varicella vaccination in children is 85% effective in
- preventing all varicella (median; range 44–100% in post-licensure studies) [166], therefore approximately 15% of
 vaccinated individuals may develop BV if exposed to VZV.

BV is caused by primary (failure to seroconvert or to mount a protective immune response despite seroconversion) or secondary (waning immunity) vaccine failure. However, no conclusive evidence is available for the different risk factors of vaccine failure, apart from in the case of receiving varicella vaccine within 28 days of MMR vaccine.

In a ten-year follow-up study in the USA, the cumulative 10-year rate for contracting varicella more than 42 days post vaccination in children who received two doses was 3.3-fold lower than the rate in children who received one dose (2.2% vs. 7.3%, p< 0.001) [122]. Moreover, in a study in Germany [167], the risk of BV was higher for one dose of Varilrix® (RR = 2.8, 95%CI 1.0-7.8, p = 0.05) or Priorix-Tetra® (RR = 2.4, 95%CI 0.7-8.3, p = 0.18) than with one dose of Varivax®, but lower for two doses of Priorix-Tetra® (RR = 0.5, 95%CI 0.1-2.7, p = 0.41). No significant difference in BV rate was found between subjects who had received MMR+V concomitantly or after a six-week interval [132].

⁶³⁴ Younger age at vaccination (\leq 14-18 months) may be a risk factor for vaccine failure [168], but the evidence was ⁶³⁵ not consistent and several articles found no association between BV and age at vaccination [157,167,169-175].

Increasing time passed since immunisation may be a risk factor for vaccine failure. In general, most studies

showed that mild BV rates do not seem to increase over time since immunisation (<10 years) in children or adults

at risk of exposure [132,157,158,171,172,175-177]. However a few studies [173,175,178-180] reported

- significantly higher risk ratios for children vaccinated over five years ago than for children immunised more recently.
 There are inconclusive data on the increasing severity of BV with the passing of time since immunisation
- 641 [122,180,181].

A study by Bonanni et al. in 2013 showed no consistent trend between BV rate and time since vaccination [182].
Another recent study by Baxter et al. in 2013 [183] showed that at the end of the 14-year study period (including children vaccinated mainly with one dose and for the last three years with two doses) varicella vaccine
effectiveness was 90%, with no indication of it waning over time. Most cases of varicella were mild and occurred
early after vaccination. However, this study did not account for changing epidemiology and risk of exposure
following the two-dose schedule introduced only three years before the study was conducted.

648 Conclusions

• BV is usually mild.

- No conclusive evidence is available for the different risk factors of vaccine failure; however type of vaccine, number of doses, age at vaccination and time since immunisation could have an influence.
- Recent studies show no consistent trend between BV rate and time since vaccination.
- Recent studies, in populations mainly vaccinated with one dose, show a varicella vaccine effectiveness of 90% after 14 years.

555 5.4.2 Varicella outbreaks in vaccinated populations

Annual outbreaks of varicella are common in non-vaccinated populations. Varicella is a highly transmissible disease
 with secondary attack rates of 60–100% in susceptible contacts [167].[167] The description of outbreaks in
 vaccinated populations provides an opportunity to study vaccine effectiveness, risk factors for BV and vaccination
 coverage.

Most of the outbreaks in vaccinated populations, described to date in USA [172,173,178,184-186], Germany [167], Spain [175], Israel [187] and Uruguay [188] have been studied and provide useful information for understanding varicella in vaccinated populations. Outbreak situations offer an opportunity to evaluate the effect of immunisation in the field where it is most useful and where there is a high risk of infection.

The vaccination coverage in the populations of these countries is quite different, ranging from outbreaks in
 communities with low vaccination coverage (Israel) to communities with high vaccination coverage (Uruguay). In
 one of the countries (Germany) where different varicella vaccines are used, vaccine effectiveness could be
 calculated for individual vaccines.

The trends and characteristics of varicella outbreaks in active surveillance sites have been analysed in the USA by 668 Civen et al and Kattan et al. The study by Civen et al. [185] showed that during a 10-year period (1995-2005), in 669 a population vaccinated with a one-dose schedule, outbreaks significantly decreased in number (from 236 to 46, 670 p<.001), in size (from a median 15 cases to nine cases/outbreak, p< .001) and in duration (from 44.5 days to 30 671 days, p< .001). The median age of case patients with outbreak-related varicella increased from six to nine years 672 (p < .001). The change to a two-dose vaccination had a further impact on the characteristics of varicella outbreaks. 673 Kattan et al. [189] showed that in an active surveillance site during the period 2005–2008, the number and size of 674 school outbreaks of varicella decreased dramatically, with 42 outbreaks during the 2005-2006 school year (mean 675 size, 14; range, 5-62) and only two outbreaks during the 2008-2009 school year (mean size 5; range, 3-6). 676

677 Conclusions

- It has been reported that varicella vaccination decreases the number, size and duration of varicella outbreaks and that such decreases are even greater with a two-dose schedule.
- One-dose varicella vaccination strategies have been linked to an increase in the median age of patients during outbreaks (from six to nine years); there was no data available for two-dose schedule strategies.

5.5 Varicella vaccination recommendations in the EU/EEA

WHO advocates routine childhood immunisation against varicella in countries where the disease is a relatively 683 important public health and socioeconomic problem, where the vaccine is affordable and where high (85-90%) 684 and sustained vaccine coverage can be achieved [190]. The latter is important as childhood immunisation with low 685 coverage could theoretically shift the epidemiology of the disease and increase the number of severe cases in older 686 children and adults for whom the disease is more severe. Additionally, WHO advocates recommendation of the 687 vaccine in any country to individual adolescents and adults without a history of varicella, in particular to those at 688 increased risk of contracting or spreading the infection. This entails no risk of an epidemiological shift, as childhood 689 exposure to VZV remains unaffected. 690

In the European Union there are centrally authorised vaccines, such as ProQuad ® [191] and vaccines authorised nationally such as Priorix Tetra ®, Varilrix ®, Varivax ® and associated names [192].

Monovalent vaccines are available in 28 countries and combined vaccines (MMRV) in 15 countries (AT, BE, CY, CZ, EE, DE, HU, IT, LV, LU, MT, NL, PL, SK, SI) [193].

In October 2012, there were various types of recommendation regarding varicella vaccination in 22 out of 29

EU/EEA countries [193]. In seven countries there is no specific recommendation for varicella vaccination (BG, CZ,
 HU, PT, RO, SK, SE).

In five countries (CY, DE, EL, LV, LU) varicella vaccination is universally recommended for children at national level

and in two countries (ES, IT) at regional level (see Figure 1, updated from VENICE survey and by personal

communication). The year of introduction, number of doses and age of varicella vaccination are summarised inTable 1.

Seventeen countries (including the two with regional universal recommendation) recommended nationwide
 vaccination for susceptible teenagers and/or risk groups only.

As regards occupational risk groups, thirteen countries recommended vaccination for susceptible healthcare workers (AT, DE, ES, FR, IE, NL, LU, UK, SI, LT, MT, NO, FI), two countries for susceptible pedagogical staff (AT,

FR) and four for susceptible day-care personnel (AT, DE, FR, FI) [193].

707 Figure 1. Varicella vaccination recommendations in EU/EEA countries, 2012



```
708
```

Table 1. Year of introduction, number of doses and age of varicella vaccination in EU and EEA/EFTA countries with childhood universal vaccination, 2012

	Year of introduction	First dose	Second dose
Germany	2004 ¹	11-14m	15-23m
Latvia	2008	12-15m	-
Greece	2006	12-15m	4-6y
Cyprus	2010	13-18m	4-6y
Luxemburg	2010	12m	15-23m
Italy			
Sicily	2003	2у	-
Veneto	2005	15m	Зу
Puglia	2010		
Toscana	2010		
Spain			
Madrid ²	2006	15m	-
Navarre	2007	15m	Зу
Ceuta	2009	18m	24m
Melilla	2009	15m	24m

¹ Universal vaccination of infants with one dose was recommended in Germany in 2004, and universal vaccination with a second dose in 2009.

² Programme withdrawn in 2013.

- Varicella vaccine recommendations in the EU/EEA are heterogeneous: only five countries universally recommend varicella vaccination for children at national level and two countries at regional level.
- Seventeen countries recommend nationwide vaccination for susceptible teenagers and/or risk groups only.

6. Public health impact of varicellavaccination

720 6.1 EU experience with varicella vaccination

721 Germany

Germany is the country with the most experience of varicella vaccination in Europe.

Germany introduced universal varicella vaccination for children over 11 months of age in 2004 (one dose) and 723 recommended a second dose in 2009, preferably given between 15-23 months and at least 4-6 weeks after the 724 first dose [194]. Additionally, two doses were recommended for unvaccinated adolescents aged 9-17 years with no 725 previous history of varicella [194]. Until 2007, regional differences in payment and reimbursement of varicella 726 vaccination had an impact on vaccine uptake. Moreover, in Germany all licensed and available vaccines may be 727 used, if complying with the product information. However, the product information was different regarding the 728 schedules for monovalent and tetravalent vaccines until 2009. Therefore, between 2004 and 2009 varicella 729 vaccination in Germany varied by region and schedule. 730

Varicella-zoster surveillance was mainly carried out by sentinel physicians (ongoing since 2005) [106,159,195], by
 outbreak investigation (2008/09) [167] and by surveillance of hospitalisations [188].

In countrywide active sentinel-surveillance (Active German Varicella sentinel – AGV), approximately 1 200 primary
 physicians provided information on aggregated numbers of varicella cases by age or zero-reports, as well as doses
 of varicella vaccine administered by month (from April 2005 to March 2011) [167]. Additionally, they sent case-in

based questionnaires on varicella complications, varicella in vaccinated persons and cases of HZ. Regional,

population-based surveillance has been going on in the Munich area, involving two-thirds (88–98 practices) of all

local paediatricians and collecting similar data on varicella and herpes zoster cases in children under 17 years since

October 2006 (as reported in Streng et al. [196] and in a poster at the ESPID Conference 2013). Additionally, data
 on complications associated with varicella-zoster infections were collected from paediatric hospitals in Bavaria

740 on con 741 [195].

Varicella vaccination coverage was estimated using physicians' billing data on patients vaccinated against varicella,

which have been available on a quarterly basis from up to 17 regional Associations of Statutory Health Insurance

Physicians since 2004, covering about 86% of the German population. Regional coverage in the Munich area was

- determined by annual representative parent surveys [197] [196].
- Vaccine effectiveness was assessed for outbreaks in day-care settings [162] as well as in a time series analysis using sentinel and coverage data [191], and a recent age and practice-matched case-control study [193].

748 Between April 2005 and March 2009, countrywide sentinel surveillance showed a 55% reduction in varicella cases

per reporting physician for all ages; 63% in the age group 0–4 years and 38% in 5–9 year-olds [159]. The
 decreasing trend has not yet come to an end: by 2012, the case reduction was 84%, as reported in an article by

Siedler in 2013 [198]. Meanwhile, in the AGV-sentinel varicella complications decreased by 81% [104].

Similar results were yielded by the regional surveillance in Bavaria: Incidence estimates of varicella cases in
 outpatient-children from the area of Munich decreased by over 77%, (from 78.1 to 19.2 per 1 000 children) from
 October 2006 to September 2011 [189].

Between 2005 and 2009, in the Munich area the incidence of varicella hospitalisations in children under 17 years decreased by 43% (from 7.6 to 4.3 per 100 000 children), with the strongest reduction (by 77%) observed in children under one year of age, indicating the effect of herd immunity [189]. Based on data from all paediatric hospitals in Bavaria, annual incidence of varicella-associated hospitalisations was estimated to be 13.3 per 100 000 children in 2005 and decreased to 6.7 in 2009 (by 50%) [195], and Streng et al., poster at ESPID Conference 2011).

As regards HZ, a steady number of HZ cases per reporting sentinel physician was observed during the period of the AGV sentinel surveillance [159]. However, age stratified analysis of paediatric cases showed a decrease of HZ in children 0–4 and 5–9 years and an increase in adolescents 10–14 years. The trends in 0–4 and 10–14 years were confirmed by billing data and national statistics on hospital admissions (unpublished data and Siedler et al., poster at ESPID Conference 2011). Sentinel data has so far not shown any clear trend relating to HZ in adults, but analyses are continuing, also using data from other sources.

As in the nationwide sentinel surveillance, an initial decrease of HZ cases aged 0–9 years was also observed in Munich, but this trend did not continue [Streng et al., poster at ESPID Conference 2013]. 769 During the AGV sentinel surveillance observation period, the number of administered vaccine doses increased

overall, but the trend varied by first and second doses, physician's speciality and region [159]. Coverage as 770 estimated by billing data increased over time, indicating a growing acceptance of varicella vaccination in parents 771 and doctors [195,197,199] [196]. Coverage differed by age and region [167,199]. In the first years of the 772 vaccination programme, both sentinel and billing data showed that vaccine uptake and the level of vaccination 773 coverage in the earliest age cohort eligible for the recommended varicella vaccination were significantly affected by 774 the delay in introducing reimbursement [159,199]. According to billing data, coverage was estimated to be about 775 78% at 24 months in 2008 [200]. For the birth cohort 2009, vaccination coverage was 87% for the first dose at 24 776 months (64% for the second dose) according to Siedler 2013 [198]. In Munich, first-dose vaccination coverage in 777 children up to three years of age stagnated after initially increasing to 51-53% during the period 2007-2009. With 778 reimbursement of the combined MMR-varicella vaccine in 2009, first-dose vaccination coverage increased (66-68% 779 in 2010-2011) and second-dose vaccination coverage reached 59% in 2011 [189]. Recent data published by Streng 780 et al. [201] showed that separate first-dose vaccination for MMR and varicella, implemented in 2011 due to a 781 782 slightly increased risk of febrile seizures associated with combined MMR-varicella vaccine, resulted in a 12% decrease in varicella vaccinations in Munich and a (non-significant) 4% decrease in a second regional surveillance 783

- 784 region.
- The number of varicella cases in vaccinated persons increased in the first four years of AGV and the proportion of those vaccinated in all reported varicella cases went up from 0.9 to 8.2% [159].

This has changed since 2009, when the number of vaccinated cases as well as the proportion of those vaccinated
among all varicella cases began to decrease again (unpublished data). In Munich, the proportion of vaccinated
cases among all reported varicella patients increased to 9% until 2009 before remaining stable at 9–10% during
the years 2010 and 2011 [196].

Vaccine effectiveness during outbreaks in day-care-settings was generally high (overall 71%) and differed
 significantly by disease severity and the number of doses administered. Moreover, vaccine effectiveness after one
 dose differed slightly when compared to the monovalent vaccines [167].

In a time-series analysis, a strong association was found between coverage, number of cases in the one-to-two
 year-old age group and herd effects in infants. Under field conditions, the vaccine effectiveness of a one-dose
 vaccination was estimated to be 83.2% [200].

A recent case-control study of paediatric practices in Germany by Liese et al. 2013 [202] also showed the varicella 797 vaccination to have a high effectiveness for up to five years after vaccination in a population with vaccination 798 coverage of about 50%. After adjusting for gender and school/day-care attendance, vaccine effectiveness of one-799 dose of OKA/RIT against PCR-confirmed varicella of any severity was 71.5% (95% confidence interval [CI]: 49.1-800 84.0) and 94.7% (95% CI: 77.8-98.7) against PCR-confirmed moderate or severe varicella. Adjusted effectiveness 801 for any varicella vaccine was 86.4% (95% CI: 77.3-91.8) against any severity and 97.7% (95% CI: 90.5-99.4) 802 803 against moderate or severe varicella. As in the outbreak investigations [167], one of the monovalent varicella vaccines (Oka-/RIT) showed slightly lower vaccine effectiveness (71.5%) against varicella of any severity, but 804 similar vaccine effectiveness (94.7%) against moderate or severe varicella after one-dose vaccination. 805

- Sentinel results and regional surveillance confirm the large (up to >75%) decline in varicella morbidity following the introduction of routine varicella vaccination in Germany.
- Data from Germany document a reduction in complications and hospitalisations related to varicella after introduction of varicella vaccination.
- In addition to the direct influence of the vaccine, herd protection is visible, including a reduction of varicella in infants under one year of age.
- Varicella vaccination has so far shown no influence on the epidemiology of HZ in general; age-specific effects in children, adolescents and adults have to be further investigated.
- Acceptance of varicella vaccination has been growing in doctors and parents; the availability of tetravalent vaccine may have played a role in this.
- Cost coverage of vaccination has an impact on vaccine uptake.
- Vaccination coverage of >80% is possible.
- Vaccine effectiveness after two doses is higher than after one dose; several studies raise the concern that
 one-dose vaccine effectiveness may vary for different varicella vaccines, but further studies are needed.
 Vaccine effectiveness differs with regard to the severity of varicella.
- Surveillance has to be continued.

823 Italy

In Italy, varicella vaccine is universally recommended for paediatric vaccination. However, so far only four regions
 have implemented such a programme. No data are available for Puglia and Tuscany, where the programme was
 only started in 2010 [75].

In Sicily, the vaccine has been universally administered, since 2003, in the second year of life, with a catch-up dose at 12 years of age in susceptible adolescents. The coverage rate for children born in 2005 was 70.0%, while that for susceptible adolescents born in 1995/1996 was 45.1%. Annual incidence rates of varicella declined from 95.7 for 1 000 person-years in 2004 to 9.0 for 1 000 person-years in 2007 [160].

Veneto introduced universal vaccination in 2005 for children aged 14 months, with a second dose for six year-old children and a catch-up dose for teenagers. The average adjusted adherence rate was 8.1% in the cohort of children born in 2004, 59.9% in the 2005 cohort and 70.0% in the 2006 cohort, showing an increase in acceptance of the vaccination. However, it is still too early to observe the effect of the new vaccination schedule on the incidence of varicella infections [64].

836 **Conclusions**

• Rapid reduction of the incidence of varicella in Sicily and reduction of both incidence and hospitalisation rate in Veneto.

• No data available relating to the impact on zoster as yet.

840 Spain

In Spain there is selective vaccination of all susceptible teenagers at 10–13 years (age depends on the autonomous community).

- Additionally, in two autonomous communities (Madrid and Navarre) and in the autonomous cities of Ceuta and
- Melilla, universal childhood vaccination programmes are in place (see schedules in Table 1). Experiences presented here are from Madrid and Navarre as epidemiological data is not available for Ceuta and Melilla.
- In Madrid [203], universal vaccination began in November 2006 with a one-dose schedule at 15 months.

Vaccination coverage for the period 2007–2009 was 92.7. Between 2006 and 2009, the incidence rate of varicella
dropped from 718 cases per 100 000 inhabitants to 162 per 100 000 inhabitants (-77%) [203]. Hospitalisation
rates were 4.52/100 000 population for the period 2001–2003, 4.84/100 000 for the period 2004–2006 and
2.49/100 000 for the period 2007–2009 (138). The programme was withdrawn in 2013.

In Navarre [204], a universal vaccination programme was started in 2007 with a two-dose schedule at 15 months
and three years and a catch up at 10 years (for those susceptible). Previously, in 2004 and 2006, all those
considered susceptible born between 1990 and 1996 were vaccinated. Vaccination coverage for varicella in 2009
was 95% for the first dose and 81% for the second one.

A recent study published by García Cenoz in 2013 [199] assessed data up to 2012. Between 2006 and 2012, the incidence of varicella in children aged 0 to 14 years decreased by 98.1%, from 50.1 cases per 1 000 inhabitants to 1.0 per 1 000. Children aged one to eight years were the vaccinated cohorts, and their incidence of varicella decreased by 98.5%. Important reductions were also achieved in under-vaccinated groups: 90.5% in infants under one year of age and 89.4% in children aged nine years. Hospital admissions rate for varicella or its complications decreased by 89.0%, and in 2012, there was only one admission of a new-born with neonatal varicella. Vaccine effectiveness for at least one dose was 96.8% (95% confidence interval: 96.3–97.2%).

The very significant reductions are higher than those observed in other studies and are the consequence of a twodose schedule coupled with a catch-up programme and the very high vaccination coverage achieved [204].

864 **Conclusions**

- Rapid reduction of the incidence of varicella and hospitalisation rate in all age groups for both vaccinated and unvaccinated individuals.
- Greater reduction in the region with the two-dose schedule (Navarre).

868 Latvia

⁸⁶⁹ Universal coverage introduced in 2008 with one dose between the ages of 12 and 15 months.

870 Greece

Universal coverage introduced in 2006 with two doses, the first between 12 and 15months and the second

between four and six years.

873 Luxembourg

Since November 2010, the varicella vaccination is only recommended (no universal coverage). In Luxemburg two doses are recommended, the first at 12 months and the second between 15 and 23 months.

876 Cyprus

Since November 2010, the varicella vaccination is only recommended (no universal coverage). Two doses are also recommended in Cyprus, the first at 13–18 months and the second at four to six years of age.

6.2 United States experience with varicella vaccination

Prior to licensure of varicella vaccine in the United States in 1995, varicella was an endemic childhood disease 880 which developed in nearly all persons. Between 1980 and 1990, the annual estimated incidence of varicella was 881 15.0 cases/1 000 population, an incidence which resulted in an estimated four million cases per year, a number 882 approximating the birth cohort [205]. More than 90% of cases in the pre-vaccine era occurred in children <15 883 years of age. During the period 1988–1995, before the varicella vaccine was widely used, there were an estimated 884 885 10 632 varicella-related hospitalisations per year, corresponding to a rate of 0.42/10 000 population [206]. During the period 1990–1994, average age-adjusted mortality rates with varicella as an underlying cause of death were 886 0.41/1 million population, with an average of 145 varicella-related deaths per year (105 deaths with varicella as the 887 underlying cause of death and 40 with varicella as a contributing cause) [207]. 888

Initial recommendations for the prevention of varicella by the US Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices in
 1996 included routine vaccination of children aged 12–18 months of age, catch-up vaccination of susceptible
 children aged 19 months – 12 years of age, and vaccination of susceptible persons in close contact with persons at
 high risk of serious complications from varicella [205]. One dose of varicella vaccine was recommended for children
 aged 12 months–12 years and two doses 4–8 weeks apart for persons 13 years or older.

On a national scale, one-dose varicella vaccination coverage among children aged 19-35 months increased from 26% 894 in 1997 to 90% in 2007 [208,209]. At two US sites conducting active surveillance, varicella incidence decreased by 895 90% during the period 1995–2005, with reductions in all age groups, including infants <12 months of age and 896 adults, suggesting herd-immunity effects beyond the age groups for whom vaccination was recommended [164]. 897 The number of varicella outbreaks at the two active surveillance sites fell from 236 during 1995–1998 to 46 during 898 2002-2005 (p<0.001), as did the size and duration of outbreaks [185]. Nationally, the estimated average annual 899 number of varicella-related hospitalisations decreased by at least 65% in all age groups between 2000 and 2006 900 compared to the pre-vaccination era. This suggests that an estimated 50 000 varicella-related hospitalisations were 901 prevented by varicella vaccination during this period [206]. Varicella-related hospitalisations among 0-4 year olds, 902 the age-group with the highest hospitalisation rates prior to introduction of varicella vaccine, fell from 2.5/10 000 903 during the period 1988–1995 to 0.7/10 000 during the period 2000–2006. The majority (70%) of varicella-related 904 hospitalisations in both periods occurred among persons with no co-morbid or immunocompromising conditions 905 906 that would have predisposed them to severe varicella. Estimated direct medical expenditures for varicella-related hospitalisations and ambulatory care visits on a national scale were 74% lower in 2002 than in 1994 and 1995 907 [210]. Average age-adjusted mortality due to varicella as an underlying cause of death decreased 88% to 0.05/1 908 million population during the period 2005–2007 (p<0.001), with a reduction of 97% among persons <20 years 909 [211]. 910

Monitoring the impact of the varicella vaccination programme on the epidemiology of HZ remains an important priority. Data from one of the active surveillance sites for varicella and from a managed care organisation demonstrate that children who had received the varicella vaccine had a 4-12 times lower risk of contracting HZ than unvaccinated children [212,213]. Overall, HZ incidence in the United States is rising in persons of all ages, however increases in HZ began before the varicella vaccine was licenced and therefore do not appear to be solely attributable to varicella vaccination [214]. Trends in HZ incidence are challenging to interpret, given that the risk factors for HZ, other than age and immunosuppression, are poorly understood.

Given that single dose varicella vaccination in children is estimated to be 85% effective (median; range 44-100% 918 in post-licensure studies) [166], approximately 15% of vaccinated individuals may develop varicella if exposed to 919 VZV. Although varicella incidence, especially cases of severe varicella, fell dramatically during the first 10 years of 920 the routine one-dose varicella vaccination programme for children in the United States, varicella in vaccinated 921 individuals was not uncommon. In 2005, with high coverage of one-dose varicella vaccination among pre-school 922 aged children, 72% of reported varicella cases at the two US varicella active surveillance sites were among 923 vaccinated individuals [162]. Varicella in vaccinated individuals was significantly milder, with fewer lesions, shorter 924 duration of rash, and fewer complications. Although less likely to transmit VZV, vaccinated individuals with varicella 925 are infectious [215]. 926

The decline in varicella incidence reached its nadir in 2002, after which incidence remained stable [164,216]. 927 Varicella outbreaks continued to occur, even among highly-vaccinated school populations, although the outbreaks 928 were smaller and less common than in the pre-vaccine era. In response, the United States implemented a routine 929 two-dose varicella vaccination programme for children in 2006, with the first dose administered at 12-15 months 930 and the second dose at four to six years [149]. At the time, trials had shown that a higher proportion of children 931 (~ 99%) achieved an antibody response of \geq 5gp ELISA units after the second dose of varicella vaccine, suggesting 932 that a second dose would provide protection to the 15-20% of children who do not respond adequately to the first 933 dose [216]. The recommended age of 4-6 years for the second dose of varicella vaccine was chosen so as to 934 harmonise with existing recommendations for MMR vaccine use in the United States. It was supported by the 935 epidemiology of varicella during the mature one-dose programme, with low incidence and few outbreaks among 936 pre-school aged children and higher incidence and more outbreaks among school-aged children. 937

National data on two-dose varicella vaccination coverage in the United States are limited; data from immunisation
registries and school records at the active surveillance sites and in selected States suggest that two-dose coverage
among school-aged children (5–12 years) was 30–50% during the period 2008–2010 [217-219]. Although
additional surveillance will be needed to fully describe the impact of the routine two-dose varicella vaccination
programme, reductions in varicella incidence of 40–50% have been reported by the active surveillance sites and
selected States in the first two years since its implementation [189,217].

- The US varicella vaccination programme has dramatically reduced varicella incidence and related complications, hospitalisations and deaths.
- Incidence has been reduced in infants <12 months of age and adults, suggesting indirect effects in age groups for whom vaccination was not recommended.
- One dose of vaccine has proved insufficient to prevent outbreaks, as it can lead in 15% of cases to BV cases. Two doses have been recommended since 2006.
- Trends in HZ incidence are challenging to interpret given that the risk factors for HZ, other than age and immunosuppression, are poorly understood.
- Monitoring the impact of varicella vaccine on HZ remains a priority.

7. Insights from modelling

7.1 Potential impact of varicella vaccination on the incidence of varicella

Transmission dynamic models have been used to project the impact of varicella vaccination in several high income
 countries (in Europe, USA, Canada and Australia). Results may depend on the country-specific characteristics
 (contact mixing and epidemiology). Most of these models are adaptations of an original model by Brisson et al.
 [220].

Models predict that routine infant varicella immunisation with either a one- or two-dose strategy will cause a rapid decrease in varicella incidence in the first decade after vaccination [82,221-225] [226]. However, a 'posthoneymoon' epidemic is likely to follow, before a new, lower equilibrium level of varicella is reached [82,225].

Most cases occurring in the new equilibrium are likely to be BV cases. BV cases are most likely to occur at intermediate levels of coverage (50-70%) and decline at high coverage levels [227], and they are more frequent if a one-dose strategy is used [228]. One model suggests that the incidence of BV may be higher than reported in clinical trials, partly because in a population setting with high coverage there is less opportunity for vaccineinduced protection to be boosted by natural exposure to varicella [221].

At low coverage levels and/or if a one-dose strategy is used, a post-vaccination equilibrium may never be reached. Instead, epidemics consisting of both natural and BV cases may reoccur at regular intervals [82,221]. The size of these epidemics would be larger and they would be more frequent if coverage is low and/or a one-dose strategy is used [221,227]. However, a vaccination programme with a two-dose strategy at high coverage (>90%) and/or an extensive catch-up campaign in older children (e.g. those aged 12 years) during the first year of vaccination may avoid a 'post-honeymoon' epidemic and achieve near elimination of varicella [82,220,222,225,228]. Catch-up campaigns would have no effect on varicella incidence after achieving a long-term equilibrium [227].

A shift in the average age of infection is predicted, although the absolute number of cases in adults is not expected to increase unless coverage is below 80% [221,222,224,227-229].

A routine adolescent vaccination strategy would have limited impact on natural varicella, even where coverage is high (e.g. 95%), since most adolescents already have natural immunity [220,230]. However, delaying the second dose of a two-dose strategy until pre-school or school age would not have any more impact on the disease than giving it to younger children [221,225,231].

Model results are highly sensitive to assumptions made about age-dependent contact rates [220,221,224,225] and
vaccine efficacy [82,220,225,228]. More recent models [221,222,225] have used empirical findings from diarybased surveys of contact patterns [232], meaning that the models reflect varicella seroprevalence data more
closely [233]. There is still little evidence relating to long-term vaccine efficacy, particularly for a two-dose strategy
[228].

987 **Conclusions**

- Results from modelling are country-specific and are highly sensitive to assumptions about age-specific contact rates and vaccine efficacy.
- Models predict a sharp decrease of varicella incidence, as already seen through surveillance in countries which have implemented universal vaccination.
- At low-coverage levels and/or if a one-dose strategy is employed, epidemics consisting of both natural and BV cases may reoccur at regular intervals.
- Unless coverage is below 80% the absolute number of cases in adults is not expected to increase.

7.2 Potential impact of varicella vaccination on the incidence of herpes zoster

Several models of varicella vaccination impact assume that contact with varicella cases causes exogenous boosting
 of specific immunity to zoster [82,221,222,224,225,227] [226]. These models suggest that routine infant varicella
 vaccination will cause zoster incidence to increase in the medium term. However, in the long term (30–75 years
 after vaccination), zoster incidence will decrease to levels below what they were prior to vaccination. Higher
 coverage, higher vaccine efficacy and two-dose vaccination programmes are predicted to produce the greatest
 medium-term increases, but lower zoster incidence in the long term.

The magnitude of the medium-term increase in zoster incidence is dependent on assumptions made about age dependent contact rates, the rate of zoster reactivation and the duration of immunity following exogenous boosting
 [222,225,227,228,234].

Introducing HZ vaccination for older adults may mitigate the effect of infant varicella vaccination on HZ incidence,
 but only to a very small extent [228,231].

ECDC funded a multi-country model [1,2] that used highly detailed socio-demographic data for every country. The model removed the constraint that the duration of CMI and the reactivation rate are the same in all countries [3]. This model suggests that the short/medium-term impact is country-specific and therefore an increase in HZ is not expected in all countries but rather in countries where HZ rates were milder due to the greater force of exogenous boosting. These findings might provide an explanation for the different conclusions drawn from empirical evidence generated in the literature about the increases of HZ in the context of mass varicella vaccination.

- Most models that assume the exogenous boosting theory predict that universal varicella vaccination will cause HZ to increase in the medium term (up to 35–75 years after vaccination)
- One model suggests that the short/medium impact of varicella vaccination on HZ is country-specific.

8. Health economic aspects of varicella vaccination programmes

Health economic evaluations of varicella vaccination have been conducted in Europe, USA, Taiwan, Singapore,
 Israel and Canada and reviewed in the literature [235-237]. However, the majority of these evaluations use static
 models rather than transmission dynamic models. Dynamic models are more adequate than static models for
 capturing the full range of effects of vaccination relevant to economic evaluations, including indirect protection
 (herd immunity), shifts in the age of infection and (potentially) the boosting of immunity to zoster [234,236]. A few
 models also took into account potential waning of vaccine protection.

Studies examining varicella outcomes alone mostly suggest that infant varicella vaccination (12–24 months) with one or two doses is cost-saving from a societal perspective, even when the potential detrimental effect of zoster boosting is taken into account [235-237]. Catch-up programmes targeted at susceptible children in their second year of life may also be cost-effective.

The majority of cost savings involve the prevention of indirect societal costs (time off work due to sickness or to care for children with varicella). From a healthcare perspective, the cost savings following vaccination are smaller and consequently only a few studies suggest that vaccination is worthwhile. However, early childhood vaccination may still be cost-effective (i.e. the net cost of the intervention is good value for money due to the health benefits generated) even if loss of immunity to zoster is not assumed. In addition to these factors, assumptions about vaccine cost and effectiveness are influential in determining the results of evaluations.

Only a few economic evaluations incorporate the potential effect of boosting immunity to zoster, and these are 1036 much less optimistic [230,238,239] [226]. In the medium term, following early childhood vaccination (with or 1037 without a catch-up programme for older age groups), a net deficit in both healthcare costs and guality-adjusted life 1038 years is expected. This means that the increase in morbidity and healthcare costs due to zoster outweighs the 1039 decrease due to varicella vaccination. However, in the longer term (>50 years) there may be net medical cost 1040 savings and health improvements. Hence, the cost-effectiveness of vaccination is dependent on the time horizon 1041 and discount rate used in the analysis. If long-term outcomes are considered, then vaccination can be cost-1042 effective. 1043

Vaccination targeted at specific subgroups can be realistically evaluated using static models since the dynamic 1044 effects (herd immunity and reduced boosting of HZ resistance) of these limited programmes are likely to be small. 1045 Hence vaccination targeted at susceptible adolescents may be cost-effective since it would have a much milder 1046 impact on zoster incidence [230]. Vaccination of susceptible pregnant or postpartum women following anamnestic 1047 and serological screening appeared to be cost saving [240,241], although vaccinating against varicella in 1048 1049 pregnancy is currently contraindicated. Vaccination programmes targeted at healthcare workers may be costeffective from an employer's perspective [236]. Vaccination of children prior to organ transplant was highly cost-1050 effective from both hospital and societal perspectives [242,243]. Vaccination of young immigrants may be cost-1051 effective if they are children under five years old, or if serological testing is used to identify those susceptible 1052 [244,245]. 1053

- Health economic evaluation models have mostly used static models that do not take into account dynamic effects as herd immunity, shift in the age of disease or the boosting hypothesis.
- The majority of cost savings occur by preventing indirect societal costs (time off from work due to sickness or to care for children with varicella).
- If the boosting hypothesis is taken into account, the increase in morbidity and healthcare costs due to
 zoster outweighs the decrease in varicella over a period of up to 50 years, when net medical cost savings
 may occur.
- Evaluation of vaccination targeted to specific subgroups can be realistically conducted with static models (susceptible adolescent, healthcare workers or children prior to organ transplant) and may be cost-effective.

9. Follow-up and monitoring of varicella vaccination programmes

1066 Implementation of routine varicella vaccination should be accompanied by monitoring to assess its impact.

Essential elements of monitoring include vaccine coverage, vaccine effectiveness, occurrence of adverse events,
 age-specific varicella disease severity and age-specific varicella incidence, HZ cases and hospitalisations. Ideally,
 this data should be collected before a varicella vaccination programme is introduced, in order to evaluate the year to-year variation of varicella in the unvaccinated population, and to detect a rise in HZ which may have already
 started before a varicella vaccination programme was introduced (i.e. not attributable to varicella vaccination.)

To evaluate the (long-term) impact of routine varicella vaccination, information on vaccine coverage is needed – preferably by dose. It is very important to achieve sufficiently high coverage as this will have an increased impact on disease occurrence. As result of reduced virus circulation and less booster opportunities, the age of infection may increase. Nevertheless, with high coverage an increase in age-specific incidence, and therefore an overall increase in the severity of the disease, will be avoided. However, medium, or low coverage might lead to undesirable effects (increased age of infection, linked to a higher frequency and increased severity of varicella infection).

Information on vaccine coverage can be obtained from immunisation registers, if available, otherwise by regularly
 measuring vaccination uptake or, if neither means are available, by collecting information on the number of doses
 sold.

Another way to address the issue of long-term impact could be to monitor vaccine coverage and age-specific 1082 disease occurrence - preferably for both milder and more severe disease - and to monitor median age of infection 1083 and potential changes in this median age. An additional means of assessing longer term effects is to perform 1084 regular seroprevalence studies. In the pre-vaccination era, a steep rise was seen in seroprevalence at an early age, 1085 reaching high levels in adolescents. Changes to this age-specific seroprofile together with disease surveillance 1086 could inform countries on (future) changes in age-specific infection dynamics which are directly associated with 1087 changes in age-specific disease dynamics. Ideally, population-based sera collection or more readily available 1088 residual sera could be considered for conducting seroprevalence studies. 1089

While aggregated data on age-specific disease occurrence and vaccine uptake are essential, collecting information on disease severity and sequelae stratified by age and vaccination history is also strongly recommended. This will offer insight into the occurrence of vaccinated BV cases in relation to overall changes in severe disease after the implementation of routine vaccination.

Given the uncertainty in the mid-to-long term (less booster opportunities) regarding the occurrence of HZ among cohorts not yet eligible for VZV vaccination, surveillance of HZ incidence is highly encouraged. The decrease in booster opportunities may lead to a greater risk of reactivation resulting in HZ, but the role of external viral exposure to VZV immunity remains controversial.

1098 Monitoring must also include an evaluation of adverse events, in particular information on severe adverse events 1099 following vaccination.

With regard to disease surveillance sources used to monitor impact, sentinel systems based on physicians' consultation and hospital admission data are useful both for varicella and HZ diseases. This surveillance (using clear case definitions) needs to be established before implementing routine varicella vaccination in order to evaluate the potential impact. National databases of mandatory notifications, hospital discharge codes and mortality are also relevant sources.

- Surveillance systems must be established to evaluate the effect of a potential vaccination programme, ideally before the vaccination programme starts.
- The key elements to survey should be vaccine coverage, vaccine effectiveness, occurrence of adverse
 events, age-specific disease incidence of varicella and HZ and age-specific incidence of severe disease (i.e.
 needing hospitalisation).
- Sources could be sentinel systems, hospital admissions/discharge codes or mandatory notifications.
- Surveillance for zoster is needed to assess impact of varicella vaccination on HZ.
- A potential system for HZ surveillance must be a long-term effort as, according to modelling data, the impact on HZ may only be visible after 10–15 years or more.

1115 **10. Discussion**

1116 Seroprevalence of varicella

Findings from the different seroprevalence studies included in this review indicate that VZV is a common childhood disease in all EU/EEA countries for which data are available. Antibodies to VZV are generally acquired below the age of 10 years and by young adulthood the majority of individuals are seropositive for anti-VZV antibodies.

However, antibodies are acquired at a much earlier age in some countries than in others. For example, the
 seroprevalence was marginally lower among children in southern and eastern European countries than in northern
 and western European countries. This has been partially attributed to the varying use of day-care and pre-school
 facilities, different social contacts or to the contrast in climates (i.e. Mediterranean versus temperate).

Most neonates are seropositive at birth, probably due to the presence of passively acquired maternal antibodies. Further monitoring is required to determine whether protection to children from vaccinated mothers is lower than from mothers that have experienced natural varicella.

1127 Incidence of varicella and force of infection

In the systematic review, studies reporting on the incidence of varicella disease in EU/EEA countries confirm that
 varicella is primarily a childhood infection, however the incidence of varicella per age group was found to vary,
 depending on the country or region.

Additionally, variability was found in the force of infection and herd immunity thresholds among EU/EEA countries,

pointing to the fact that VZV transmission may be sensitive to differences in mixing patterns, especially in the younger age groups.

These regional differences found in the burden of varicella in the EU/EEA (seroprevalence, incidence and force of infection), as well as the particularities of specific groups such as healthcare workers, women of childbearing age and people born in non-EU countries, should be taken into account when assessing recommendations on varicella vaccination at country level. They will also have important implications for the design and implementation of a VZV

1138 vaccination programme.

1139 Healthcare utilisation due to varicella disease

1140 In the current review, the standardised annual incidence of hospitalisations due to varicella was reported to range from 1141 1.9–5.8 per 100 000 population. The hospitalisation rates were found to vary depending on the country or region, age 1142 group of the cases (rates decreased with age in all countries) and presence of other underlying conditions.

The median length of hospital stay was found to vary between three and nine days, and duration was found to be dependent on age (longer for adults than for children) and the presence and type of complications.

It is important to mention that the incidence of hospitalisations due to varicella in the EU/EEA countries has to be
 compared very carefully as there are significant differences in the study design and method of estimation.
 Additionally, hospitalisations will depend on the age of infection with varicella among the countries, as the severity
 of varicella hospitalisations is known to increase with age.

1149 It should be up to individual countries to understand their own baseline hospitalisation rates so that they can 1150 monitor them after the introduction of varicella vaccine and understand the impact of the vaccination programme 1151 on disease burden in their country.

1152 Complications of varicella disease

Varicella is commonly a mild disease; however 2–6% of varicella cases attending a general practice are estimated
 to develop complications. The most frequent complications reported are skin and soft tissue superinfections,

followed by neurological and pulmonary complications. The type and severity of these complications were reported to vary among populations and age groups.

Although there is a greater risk of complications for infected neonates, adults, pregnant women or those who are immunocompromised, it is important to flag up that most complications and hospitalisations for varicella reported in the literature occurred in children who were immunologically healthy, with no underlying medical conditions.

1160 Severe varicella is more frequently reported in children simply because varicella is mainly a childhood disease.

However, it has consistently been demonstrated in the literature that the risk of severe varicella and complications
 increases with age. Therefore it is important to monitor the impact of varicella vaccination on the mean age of
 varicella infection.

1164 Varicella-related mortality

- The risk of death from varicella was found to be low, with case fatality ratios varying from 0.01% to 5.4% among hospitalised cases of varicella.
- The risk increases dramatically with age, as subjects over 15 years had a 16–30 fold greater risk of dying than children aged 1–4 years, indicating the need to monitor a potential increase of infection age for varicella following vaccination.
- 1170 Underlying conditions were found to be present in about 20–30% of cases, the most common being
- immunosuppressive disorders such as acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) or other blood disorders, however most of those who died of varicella were reported to be previously healthy individuals.

1173 Varicella vaccines efficacy and immunogenicity

- The first varicella vaccine was developed in 1974 in Japan from a strain isolated in a clinical specimen and attenuated through several passages in cell culture (OKA strain). Several monovalent and combined varicella vaccines are currently authorised in Europe.
- 1177 Efficacy and immunogenicity results confirm that monovalent and combined varicella vaccines are highly 1178 immunogenic and efficacious in preventing varicella disease, as demonstrated in controlled clinical studies in 1179 healthy subjects. Efficacy is very high against severe varicella and lower against less severe varicella.
- 1180 A two-dose vaccination regimen results in higher seroconversion rates and vaccine efficacy, compared with a 1181 single-dose administration.
- A second dose given 6–12 weeks after primary immunisation elicits comparable antibody responses to those
- following administration of a second dose at 3–6 years, however the optimal timing of the second dose is still under discussion. A recent study by Bonanni et al. [182] suggests that a short interval between two doses might be preferable for reducing BV.
- Other uncertainties remain concerning the duration of immunity, the risk of complications in BV cases many years after vaccination, the need and optimal timing for additional booster doses and the long-term effects of varicella vaccination (e.g. maternal antibody levels in new-borns from varicella-vaccinated mothers.)

1189 Varicella vaccine safety

- 1190 Monovalent and combined varicella vaccines are generally well tolerated except for an increased risk of febrile 1191 seizure after a first dose of a combined MMRV vaccine at age 12–23 months.
- Febrile seizures are not uncommon in young children and generally have an excellent prognosis, although some require hospitalisation and they are distressing to parents [246]. A second dose of MMRV is less likely to cause fever and rates of febrile seizure are lower in children aged 4–6 years than in infants aged 12–15 months [233].
- Taking this into account, the US Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) does not express a preference for use of MMRV vaccine over separate injections of equivalent component vaccines (i.e. MMR vaccine and varicella vaccine –MMR+V-)[246]. However, practices in the USA [247] and in Germany recommend separate
- and varicella vaccine –MMR+V-)[246]. However, practices in the USA [247] and in Germany recommend separate application of MMR and varicella vaccine for the first dose.
- WHO recommends considering routine childhood immunisation against varicella where the disease is a relatively important public health and socioeconomic problem; where the vaccine is affordable and where high and sustained vaccine coverage (85–90%) can be achieved [190]. The use of MMRV has the advantage of providing two vaccines in one visit and may help reach high vaccination coverage.

Post-marketing studies on varicella vaccine effectiveness

- Varicella vaccine effectiveness is not 100%, so BV cases do occur, mainly after one-dose vaccination. In studies
 that have compared the clinical characteristics of varicella among vaccinated and unvaccinated subjects, vaccinated
 cases had fewer skin lesions, the rash for a shorter period of time, less likelihood of developing fever and fewer
 complications.
- No conclusive evidence is available for the different risk factors of vaccine failure; however type of vaccine, number of doses, age at vaccination and time since immunisation could have an influence.
- 1210 A recent study from Bonanni [182] has showed no consistent trend between BV rate and time since vaccination, 1211 suggesting that a short interval between two doses might be preferable to reduce BV.

1212 Another recent study [183] showed a lasting effectiveness of the vaccine which did not wane over a 14-year period.

As has been pointed out before [248], post marketing studies on varicella involving a one-dose schedule or a low vaccine coverage could be confounded through periodic exogenous exposures, prevalent before a two-dose regimen is implemented and/or high coverage reached. This issue has also been raised by modelling studies which

predict that BV incidence may be higher than reported in clinical trials, since in a population setting with high

coverage, there is less opportunity for vaccine-induced protection to be boosted by natural exposure to varicella.

- Experience of varicella vaccination in outbreaks has shown that varicella vaccination strategies have been reported to decrease the number, size and duration of varicella outbreaks and that reductions were even higher with a twodose schedule.
- 1221 One-dose varicella vaccination strategies have reported an increase in the median age of patients during outbreaks 1222 (from six to nine years), however, there was no data available for two-dose schedule strategies.

1223 Varicella vaccine recommendations in Europe

- 1224 Varicella vaccine recommendations in the EU/EEA are heterogeneous: only five countries universally recommend 1225 varicella vaccination for children at national level and two at regional level.
- Some countries have reviewed the recommendations for a vaccine against varicella but decided not to recommend universal vaccination.
- For example in France, the Haut Conseil de Santé Publique (French High Council for Public Health) re-evaluated the recommendations for a vaccine against varicella in 2007. After considering data from the US, epidemiological and modelling data, data available on vaccines and data on potential acceptation in France it decided not to recommend universal vaccination².
- Similarly, from 2007 to 2009, the Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI) in the UK considered the potential use of varicella and HZ vaccines in UK vaccination programmes³. After reviewing epidemiology data
- the potential use of varicella and HZ vaccines in UK vaccination programmes³. After reviewing epidemiology data from sentinel GP network and seroprevalence studies and mathematical modelling and cost-effectiveness studies, a
- universal varicella vaccination for children was not recommended. This decision will be reviewed in light of
- emerging data on the epidemiology of varicella and HZ infections and the cost-effectiveness of vaccines against
- these infections.
- Seventeen countries recommended nationwide vaccination for susceptible teenagers and/or susceptible risk groupsonly.

1240 Public health impact of varicella vaccination

- Surveillance in the EU/EEA and in USA has shown a rapid reduction in the incidence of varicella, varicella
 complications, hospitalisation rates and deaths in countries where routine varicella vaccination has been introduced.
 Incidence has been reduced also in infants <12 months and adults, suggesting indirect effects in age groups for
 whom vaccination was not recommended.
- USA, Germany and the Navarre region of Spain have reported improved vaccine effectiveness when administering
 two doses instead of one. Effectiveness may differ for different varicella vaccines and is greater for severe varicella.
- There has been no increase so far in the absolute number of varicella cases in older age groups compared to the pre-vaccination period. A relative increase in the age of infection has been reported, due to the reduction in cases among younger children, but incidence of severe disease has not increased.
- To date, there is no clear evidence of the influence of varicella vaccination on HZ epidemiology. Trends in HZ incidence are challenging to interpret, given that the risk factors for HZ, other than age and immunosuppression, are poorly understood. Monitoring the impact of varicella vaccine on HZ remains a priority.
- 1253 It is possible to attain vaccination coverage above 80%, as recommended by WHO [190]. High vaccination 1254 coverage is important because the complication rate for varicella increase with age.
- The expected acceptance of varicella vaccinations by parents and physicians and affordability/reimbursement of the vaccine in order to achieve high coverage may be country-specific and this will need to be explored before implementing vaccination.

² <u>http://www.hcsp.fr/explore.cgi/telecharger/hcsp049r20070816_Varicelle.pdf</u>

³ <u>http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@ab/documents/digitalasset/dh_133599.pdf</u>

1258 Insights from modelling

- Results from mathematical modelling are country-specific and highly sensitive to assumptions about age contact rates and vaccine efficacy.
- 1261 Estimates of the number of BV cases expected, long-term duration of vaccine protection, vaccine coverage level 1262 and the impact on zoster come mostly from modelling studies.
- 1263 These models predict a rapid and sharp decrease in the number of varicella cases in the first decade following 1264 varicella vaccine implementation, as has been seen in surveillance.
- Overall, two-dose strategies were found to give better results for reducing varicella incidence and decreasing the
 number of outbreaks. At low coverage levels (<50%) and/or if one-dose strategies are adopted, epidemics
 consisting of both natural and BV may reoccur at regular intervals. Additionally, if coverage is <80%, some models
 predict a shift in the average age of infection, with an absolute increase in adult cases.
- Models based on the hypothesis that contact with VZV boosts HZ immunity predict an increase in HZ in the medium term (30–75 years) followed by a decrease. The predicted increase in HZ incidence was slightly higher for all two-
- dose strategies than one-dose strategies, and adding HZ vaccination may mitigate this increase to a very small extent.
- One model suggests that the short/medium-term impact of varicella vaccination on HZ is country-specific and therefore an increase in HZ can only be expected to occur in countries where HZ incidence is low due to a higher boosting force.

1275 Health economic aspects of varicella vaccination

1276 programmes

- Health economic evaluations of varicella vaccination programmes are heterogeneous and highly dependent on key
 model assumptions. In particular, they are dependent on the existence of an exogeneous boosting of immunity to
 HZ, the perspective of those evaluating (healthcare provider or society) and the time horizon applied.
- Studies examining varicella outcomes alone mainly suggest that infant varicella vaccination (12–24 months) with one or two doses may be cost-effective from the perspective of the healthcare provider. From a societal perspective, infant vaccination is likely to be cost-saving, even when the detrimental effect of zoster boosting is taken into account. The majority of cost savings occur as a result of preventing indirect societal costs (time off from work due to sickness or to care for children with varicella).
- If economic evaluations incorporate the effect of boosting immunity to zoster, the increase in morbidity and
 healthcare costs due to zoster outweigh the decrease in morbidity resulting from varicella in the medium term.
 However, in the longer term (>50 years) net medical cost savings and health improvements may occur.
- Several targeted vaccination strategies for specific groups have been evaluated, since this can be done realistically using static models, and in general these campaigns appear to be cost-effective.

¹²⁹⁰ Follow up and monitoring of varicella vaccination

1291 programmes

- 1292 Surveillance systems are necessary to monitor the effect of a potential vaccination programme.
- 1293 The surveillance systems for varicella and HZ in the EU/EEA are highly heterogeneous and in several countries 1294 there are no surveillance systems for varicella. Most European countries do not have a surveillance system for HZ.
- Additionally, vaccination coverage data are missing in several countries which have adopted varicella vaccination recommendations. Valid vaccine coverage estimates, especially in relation to risk groups, are key prerequisites for documenting the performance of national vaccination systems.
- 1298 Surveillance of varicella and HZ, preferably before implementing a varicella vaccination programme, is needed in 1299 order to assess the impact of varicella vaccination on both diseases.
- The kind of system required will depend on the aim of the programme, however the key elements to survey should be
 vaccine coverage, occurrence of adverse events, age-specific disease incidence of varicella and HZ and severity of
 disease.
- A potential system for HZ surveillance must be long-term, as the impact of varicella vaccination on HZ may not be visible for 10–15 years or more according to modelling data.
- Additional years of surveillance will be needed to fully describe the impact of the current programmes.

1306 **11. Conclusions**

- 1307 The varicella zoster virus continues to cause a high number of varicella cases, potentially requiring medical visits or 1308 hospitalisations and occasionally leading to long-term sequelae or even death.
- There is growing evidence that varicella vaccines are highly immunogenic, efficacious and safe in preventing
- varicella disease. Evidence from countries that have implemented universal varicella vaccination of infants
 demonstrates a significant and sustained decrease in the burden of varicella with no increases in HZ to date. In the
 US this has been demonstrated for more than 15 years now.
- Health economic models suggest that introduction of the vaccine may be cost-effective if there is no associated increase in HZ incidence, and may even be cost- saving if indirect societal costs are included. If the HZ boosting hypothesis is assumed, then models predict a net increase in morbidity and healthcare costs for up to 50 years in some countries, after which net morbidity and healthcare costs will decrease.
- However, better post-vaccination surveillance and epidemiological research is needed to fill the knowledge gaps, as
 they are likely to influence the decision regarding the implementation of the vaccine. These gaps include duration
 of vaccine-induced immunity, need for further doses, impact of vaccination coverage, risk of increasing
- complications due to varicella following shifts in the mean age of infection following vaccine introduction, risk of
- complication in adult BV cases occurring several decades after vaccination and potential increases in HZ incidence
 following varicella vaccination.
- Additionally, it is important to consider the expected acceptance of varicella vaccinations by parents and physicians and the affordability/reimbursement of the vaccine in order to reach high coverage.
- There are differences in incidence and force of infection in the EU/EEA. These differences should also be taken into
 account when assessing recommendations for varicella vaccination at country level as they will have important
 implications for the design and implementation of a VZV vaccination programme.
- Better surveillance systems along with a sero-based study on varicella exposure, quantitative IgG response and zoster incidence would give clarity to some of these uncertainties.
- While waiting for more evidence on several aspects of varicella vaccination, countries should assess their individual epidemiological and socioeconomic situation, as well as the capacity to achieve high vaccination coverage with the vaccine.

References

- Iozzi F, Trusiano F, Chinazzi M, Billari FC, Zagheni E, Merler S, et al. Little Italy: an agent-based approach to the estimation of contact patterns- fitting predicted matrices to serological data. PLoS Comput Biol.
 2010;6(12):e1001021.
- Guzzetta G, Poletti P, Del Fava E, Ajelli M, Scalia Tomba GP, Merler S, et al. Hope-Simpson's Progressive Immunity Hypothesis as a Possible Explanation for Herpes Zoster Incidence Data. Am J Epidemiol.
 2013;177(10):1134-42.
- Poletti P, Melegaro A, Ajelli M, Del Fava E, Guzzetta G, Faustini L, et al. Perspectives on the impact of varicella immunization on herpes zoster. A model-based evaluation from three European countries. PLoS One.
 2013;8(4):e60732.
- National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases. Varicella. In: The Pink Book Epidemiology and Prevention of Vaccine-Preventable Diseases [Internet]. 12th ed. Available from: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/pinkbook/downloads/varicella.pdf</u>.
- Oxman MN. Herpes zoster pathogenesis and cell-mediated immunity and immunosenescence. J Am
 Osteopath Assoc. 2009;109(6 Suppl 2):S13-7.
- Asano Y. Varicella vaccine: the Japanese experience. J Infect Dis. 1996;174 Suppl 3:S310-3.
- Levin MJ, Barber D, Goldblatt E, Jones M, LaFleur B, Chan C, et al. Use of a live attenuated varicella vaccine to boost varicella-specific immune responses in seropositive people 55 years of age and older: duration of booster effect. J Infect Dis. 1998;178 Suppl 1:S109-12.
- Hata A, Kuniyoshi M, Ohkusa Y. Risk of herpes zoster in patients with underlying diseases: a retrospective hospital-based cohort study. Infection. 2011;39(6):537-44.
- Hope-Simpson RE. The nature of herpes zoster: A long-term study and a new hypothesis. Proc R Soc Med.
 1965;58:9-20.
- Steain M, Slobedman B, Abendroth A. The host immune response to varicella zoster virus. Future Virol.
 2012;7(12):1205-20.
- 1358 11. Bowles JB, Steain M, Slobedman B, Abendroth A. Inhibition of integrin alpha6 expression by cell-free varicella-1359 zoster virus. J Gen Virol. 2012;93(Pt 8):1725-30.
- 1360
 12. Nardone A, de Ory F, Carton M, Cohen D, van Damme P, Davidkin I, et al. The comparative sero epidemiology of varicella zoster virus in 11 countries in the European region. Vaccine. 2007;25(45):7866-72.
- 136213. Thomas SL, Wheeler JG, Hall AJ. Contacts with varicella or with children and protection against herpes zoster1363in adults: a case-control study. Lancet. 2002;360(9334):678-82.
- Edmunds WJ, Brisson M. The effect of vaccination on the epidemiology of varicella zoster virus. J Infect.
 2002;44(4):211-9.
- 136615.Ogunjimi B, Smits E, Hens N, Hens A, Lenders K, Ieven M, et al. Exploring the impact of exposure to primary
varicella in children on varicella-zoster virus immunity of parents. Viral Immunol. 2011;24(2):151-7.
- 136816.Gaillat J, Gajdos V, Launay O, Malvy D, Demoures B, Lewden L, et al. Does monastic life predispose to the
risk of Saint Anthony's fire (herpes zoster)? Clin Infect Dis. 2011;53(5):405-10.
- 1370 17. Donahue JG, Kieke BA, Gargiullo PM, Jumaan AO, Berger NR, McCauley JS, et al. Herpes zoster and exposure 1371 to the varicella zoster virus in an era of varicella vaccination. Am J Public Health. 2010;100(6):1116-22.
- Ogunjimi B, Van Damme P, Beutels P. Herpes zoster risk reduction through exposure to chickenpox patients: A systematic multidisciplinary review. PLoS One. 2013;8(6):e66485.
- 1374 19. Edmunds WB, M.; Rose, JD. The epidemiology of herpes zoster and potential cost-effectiveness of vaccination 1375 in England and Wales. Vaccine. 2001;Apr 30;19(23-24):3076-90.
- 1376 20. Jumaan A; Lavanchi D; Chickenpox/herpes zoster. 19th ed. Washington: American Public Health Association;
 1377 2008. In: Heymann DL, editor. Control of Communicable Diseases Manual2008. p. 109-16.
- Derrough TNT, A. EUVAC-NET the surveillance network for vaccine-preventable diseases is now hosted by
 ECDC. Euro Surveill [Internet]. 2011; 16(37):pii=19964. Available from:
 http://www.eurosurveillance.org/ViewArticle.aspx?ArticleId=19964.
- EUVAC-Net. European surveillance network for vaccine-preventable diseases, EUVAC-Net, former EUVAC.NET
 2012.
- VENICE. Vaccine European New Integrated Collaboration Effort. 2012. Available from:
 <u>http://venice.cineca.org/</u>.
- EUVAC.NET. Surveillance of varicella and herpes zoster in Europe2010. Available from:
 <u>http://www.euvac.net/graphics/euvac/pdf/varicella_zoster_surveillance.pdf</u>.
- European Commission. 2000/96/EC: Commission Decision of 22 December 1999 on the communicable diseases to be
 progressively covered by the Community network under Decision No 2119/98/EC of the European Parliament and of

1389		the Council (notified under document number C(1999) 4015) 2000. Available from: <u>http://eur-</u>
1390		$ex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_ooc/smartapi/celexapi/prodi/CELExnumdocxig=En&numdoc=32000D0096&model=guicheti.$
1391	26.	Bonanni P, Breuer J, Gershon A, Gershon M, Hryniewicz W, Papaevangelou V, et al. Varicella vaccination in
1392		Europe - taking the practical approach. BMC Med. 2009;7:26.
1393	27.	Siennicka J, Trzcinska A, Rosinska M, Litwinska B. Seroprevalence of varicella-zoster virus in Polish population.
1394		Przegl Epidemiol. 2009;63(4):495-9.
1395	28.	Kavaliotis J, Petridou S, Karabaxoglou D. How reliable is the history of chickenpox? Varicella serology among
1396		children up to 14 years of age. Int J Infect Dis. 2003;7(4):274-7.
1397	29.	Gabutti G, Rota MC, Guido M, De Donno A, Bella A, Ciofi degli Atti ML, et al. The epidemiology of Varicella
1398	20	Zoster Virus infection in Italy. BMC Public Health. 2008;8:372.
1399	30.	Salleras L, Dominguez A, Plans P, Costa J, Cardenosa N, Torner N, et al. Seroprevalence of varicella zoster
1400	21	Virus infection in child and adult population of Catalonia (Spain). Med Microbiol Immunol. 2008; 197(3):329-33.
1401	31.	Socari M, Berginic N, Lajovic J. Vancella susceptibility and transmission dynamics in Slovenia. Bivic Public Health 2010;10:240
1402	22	Mutzler D. Noise A. Panz K. Coortz A. Pisanz H. Can varicella be eliminated by vaccination? Detential clinical
1403	32.	and economic effects of universal childhood varicella immunisation in Cermany. Med Microbiol Immunol
1404		
1405	33	Koskiniemi M. Lappalainen M. Schmid DS. Rubtcova F. Lonarev VN. Genotypic analysis of varicella-zoster virus
1400	00.	and its seroprevalence in Finland. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2007:14(9):1057-61
1408	34	Kudesia G. Partridge S. Farrington CP. Soltanpoor N. Changes in age related seroprevalence of antibody to
1409		varicella zoster virus; impact on vaccine strategy. J Clin Pathol. 2002;55(2):154-5.
1410	35.	Thiry N, Beutels P, Shkedy Z, Vranckx R, Vandermeulen C, Wielen MV, et al. The seroepidemiology of primary
1411		varicella-zoster virus infection in Flanders (Belgium). Eur J Pediatr. 2002;161(11):588-93.
1412	36.	Khoshnood B, Debruyne M, Lancon F, Emery C, Fagnani F, Durand I, et al. Seroprevalence of varicella in the
1413		French population. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2006;25(1):41-4.
1414	37.	Manikkavasagan G, Dezateux C, Wade A, Bedford H. The epidemiology of chickenpox in UK 5-year olds: an
1415		analysis to inform vaccine policy. Vaccine. 2010;28(48):7699-705.
1416	38.	Salleras L, Dominguez A, Vidal J, Plans P, Salleras M, Taberner JL. Seroepidemiology of varicella-zoster virus
1417		infection in Catalonia (Spain). Rationale for universal vaccination programmes. Vaccine. 2000;19(2-3):183-8.
1418	39.	Pinquier D, Gagneur A, Balu L, Brissaud O, Gras Le Guen C, Hau-Rainsard I, et al. Prevalence of anti-varicella-
1419		zoster virus antibodies in French infants under 15 months of age. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2009;16(4):484-7.
1420	40.	Aebi C, Fischer K, Gorgievski M, Matter L, Muhlemann K. Age-specific seroprevalence to varicella-zoster virus:
1421	44	study in Swiss children and analysis of European data. Vaccine. 2001;19(23-24):3097-103.
1422	41.	de Meiker H, Berbers G, Hanne S, Rumke H, van den Hot S, de Wit A, et al. The epidemiology of varicella and
1423		nerpes zoster in The Netherlands: Implications for Varicella zoster Virus Vaccination. Vaccine.
1424	12	2000;24(18):3940-32. Wasijanbarg S. Habna S.I. Mallama I., Smits C.D. Parbars C.A. van dar Klis E.D. at al. Waning of maternal
1420	42.	antibodies against measles mumps rubella, and varicella in communities with contrasting varcination
1420		coverage Infect Dis 2013-208(1)-10-6
1427	43	van Lier A. Smits G. Mollema I. Waaijenborg S. Berbers G. van der Klis F. et al. Varicella zoster virus infection
1429		occurs at a relatively voung age in The Netherlands. Vaccine. 2013:31(44):5127-33.
1430	44.	Vandersmissen G, Moens G, Vranckx R, de Schryver A, Jacques P. Occupational risk of infection by varicella
1431		zoster virus in Belgian healthcare workers: a seroprevalence study. Occup Environ Med. 2000;57(9):621-6.
1432	45.	Reignier F, Romano L, Thiry N, Beutels P, Van Damme P, Fau C, et al. [Varicella-zoster virus seroprevalence
1433		in nursery and day-care workers in Lyon (France)]. Med Mal Infect. 2005;35(4):192-6.
1434	46.	Fedeli U, Zanetti C, Saia B. Susceptibility of healthcare workers to measles, mumps rubella and varicella. J
1435		Hosp Infect. 2002;51(2):133-5.
1436	47.	Socan M, Berginc N. High seroprevalence of varicella, measles, mumps, rubella and pertussis antibodies in
1437		first-grade medical students. Wien Klin Wochenschr. 2008;120(13-14):422-6.
1438	48.	Baer G, Bonhoeffer J, Schaad UB, Heininger U. Seroprevalence and immunization history of selected vaccine
1439		preventable diseases in medical students. Vaccine. 2005;23(16):2016-20.
1440	49.	Fernandez-Cano MI, Armadans L, Sulleiro E, Espuga M, Ferrer E, Martinez-Gomez X, et al. Susceptibility to
1441		measles and varicella in healthcare workers in a tertiary hospital in Catalonia. Enfermedades Infecciosas y
1442	50	Micropiologia Clinica. 2012;30(4):184-8.
1443	50.	wicker S, kabenau HF, Gottschaik R, Doerr HW, Allwinn R. Seroprevalence of vaccine preventable and blood
1444		transmissible viral infections (measies, mumps, rubella, pollo, HBV, HCV and HIV) in medical students. Med
1445		MICLODIOL THIMUNOL 2007;190(3):145-50.

- Alanen A, Kahala K, Vahlberg T, Koskela P, Vainionpaa R. Seroprevalence, incidence of prenatal infections and reliability of maternal history of varicella zoster virus, cytomegalovirus, herpes simplex virus and parvovirus
 B19 infection in South-Western Finland. BJOG. 2005;112(1):50-6.
- Sauerbrei A, Wutzler P. [Varicella during pregnancy. 1: Epidemiology and clinical aspects]. Dtsch Med
 Wochenschr. 2004;129(38):1983-6.
- Quinlivan M, Hawrami K, Barrett-Muir W, Aaby P, Arvin A, Chow VT, et al. The molecular epidemiology of
 varicella-zoster virus: evidence for geographic segregation. J Infect Dis. 2002;186(7):888-94.
- Suarez Gonzalez A, Otero Guerra L, De La Guerra GV, La Iglesia Martinez Pd P, Solis Sanchez G, Rodriguez
 Fernandez A. [Varicella and parvovirus B19 immunity among pregnant women in Gijon, Spain]. Med Clin
 (Barc). 2002;119(5):171-3.
- 145655.Guido M, Tinelli A, De Donno A, Quattrocchi M, Malvasi A, Campilongo F, et al. Susceptibility to varicella-1457zoster among pregnant women in the province of Lecce, Italy. Journal of Clinical Virology. 2012;53(1):72-6.
- van Rijckevorsel G, Damen M, Sonder G, Schim van der Loeff M, van den Hoek A. Seroprevalence of varicella zoster virus and predictors for seronegativity in the Amsterdam adult population. BMC Infectious Diseases.
 2012;12(1):140.
- Talukder YS, Kafatos G, Pinot de Moira A, Aquilina J, Parker SP, Crowcroft NS, et al. The seroepidemiology of
 varicella zoster virus among pregnant Bangladeshi and white British women in the London Borough of Tower
 Hamlets, UK. Epidemiol Infect. 2007;135(8):1344-53.
- Fleming DM, Schellevis FG, Falcao I, Alonso TV, Padilla ML. The incidence of chickenpox in the community.
 Lessons for disease surveillance in sentinel practice networks. Eur J Epidemiol. 2001;17(11):1023-7.
- 1466 59. Silhol R, Alvarez FP, Arena C, Amoros JP, Flahault A, Hanslik T, et al. Micro and macro population effects in 1467 disease transmission: the case of varicella. Epidemiol Infect. 2010;138(4):482-90.
- Beutels P, Clara R, Tormans G, Van Doorslaer E, Van Damme P. Costs and benefits of routine varicella
 vaccination in German children. J Infect Dis. 1996;174 Suppl 3:S335-41.
- 1470 61. Nicolosi A, Sturkenboom M, Mannino S, Arpinelli F, Cantarutti L, Giaquinto C. The incidence of varicella:
 1471 correction of a common error. Epidemiology. 2003;14(1):99-102.
- biez-Domingo J, Aristegui J, Calbo F, Gonzalez-Hachero J, Moraga F, Pena Guitian J, et al. Epidemiology and
 economic impact of varicella in immunocompetent children in Spain. A nation-wide study. Vaccine.
 2003;21(23):3236-9.
- 1475 63. Ciofi Degli Atti ML, Salmaso S, Bella A, Arigliani R, Gangemi M, Chiamenti G, et al. Pediatric sentinel
 1476 surveillance of vaccine-preventable diseases in Italy. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2002;21(8):763-8.
- Baldo V, Baldovin T, Russo F, Busana MC, Piovesan C, Bordignon G, et al. Varicella: epidemiological aspects
 and vaccination coverage in the Veneto Region. BMC Infect Dis. 2009;9:150.
- 65. Garcia Cenoz M, Castilla J, Montes Y, Moran J, Salaberri A, Elia F, et al. [Varicella and herpes zoster incidence prior to the introduction of systematic child vaccination in Navarre, 2005-2006]. An Sist Sanit Navar.
 2008;31(1):71-80.
- Valerio L, Escriba JM, Fernandez-Vazquez J, Roca C, Milozzi J, Solsona L, et al. Biogeographical origin and
 varicella risk in the adult immigration population in Catalonia, Spain (2004-2006). Euro Surveill. 2009;14(37).
- 148467. Bonsignori F, Chiappini E, Frenos S, Peraldo M, Galli L, de Martino M. Hospitalisation rates for complicated
and uncomplicated chickenpox in a poorly vaccined pediatric population. Infection. 2007;35(6):444-50.
- 68. Giaquinto C, Sturkenboom M, Mannino S, Arpinelli F, Nicolosi A, Cantarutti L. [Epidemiology and outcomes of varicella in Italy: results of a prospective study of children (0-14 years old) followed up by pediatricians
 (Pedianet study)]. Ann Ig. 2002;14(4 Suppl 6):21-7.
- 69. Socan M, Kraigher A, Pahor L. Epidemiology of varicella in Slovenia over a 20-year period (1979-98).
 Epidemiol Infect. 2001;126(2):279-83.
- Perez-Farinos N, Ordobas M, Garcia-Fernandez C, Garcia-Comas L, Canellas S, Rodero I, et al. Varicella and herpes zoster in Madrid, based on the Sentinel General Practitioner Network: 1997-2004. BMC Infect Dis.
 2007;7:59.
- 1494 71. Socan M, Blasko M. Surveillance of varicella and herpes zoster in Slovenia, 1996 2005. Euro Surveill.
 1495 2007;12(2).
- 1496 72. Infectious diseases and poisonings in Poland in 2006 2006. Available from: http://www.pzh.gov.pl/oldpage/epimeld/2006/Ch_2006.pdf.
- Arama V, Rafila A, Streinu-Cercel A, Pistol A, Bacruban R, Sandu R, et al. Varicella in Romania:
 epidemiological trends, 1986-2004. Euro Surveill. 2005;10(8):E050811 6.
- T4. Boelle PY, Hanslik T. Varicella in non-immune persons: incidence, hospitalisation and mortality rates.
 Epidemiol Infect. 2002;129(3):599-606.
- 1502 75. EUVAC.NET. Varicella surveillance report 2010. Available from:
 1503 <u>http://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/varicella_report_2010_euvacnet.pdf.</u>

1504	76.	McKendrick MW, Lau J, Alston S, Bremner J. VZV infection in pregnancy: a retrospective review over 5 years
1505		in Sheffield and discussion on the potential utilisation of varicella vaccine in prevention. J Infect.
1506		2007;55(1):64-7.
1507	77.	Bramley JC, Jones IG. Epidemiology of chickenpox in Scotland: 1981 to 1998. Commun Dis Public Health.
1508		2000;3(4):282-7.
1509	78.	Mossong J, Putz L, Schneider F. Seroprevalence and force of infection of varicella-zoster virus in Luxembourg.
1510		Epidemiol Infect. 2004;132(6):1121-7.
1511	79.	Brisson M, Edmunds WJ, Law B, Gay NJ, Walld R, Brownell M, et al. Epidemiology of varicella zoster virus
1512		infection in Canada and the United Kingdom. Epidemiol Infect. 2001;127(2):305-14.
1513	80.	Bonmarin B, Ndiaye B, Seringe E, Levy-Bruhl D. Épidémiologie de la varicelle en France. Bull Epidemiol Hebd
1514		2005;8:29-32.
1515	81.	Boot H, van der Zanden B, van Lier A, van der Maas N, de Melker H. Varicella zoster virus (VZV) infection:
1516		The National Immunisation Programme in the Netherlands: developments in 2007. In: de Melker H, Kramer M,
1517		editors.: National Institute for Public Health and the Environment; 2008.
1518	82.	Brisson M, Edmunds WJ, Gay NJ. Varicella vaccination: impact of vaccine efficacy on the epidemiology of VZV.
1519		J Med Virol. 2003;70 Suppl 1:S31-7.
1520	83.	Garcia-Doval I, Perez-Zafrilla B, Descalzo MA, Rosello R, Hernandez MV, Gomez-Reino JJ, et al. Incidence and
1521		risk of hospitalisation due to shingles and chickenpox in patients with rheumatic diseases treated with TNF
1522		antagonists. Ann Rheum Dis. 2010:69(10):1751-5.
1523	84.	Dubos F. Grandbastien B. Hue V. Martinot A. Epidemiology of hospital admissions for paediatric varicella
1524	• • •	infections: a one-year prospective survey in the pre-vaccine era. Epidemiol Infect. 2007:135(1):131-8.
1525	85.	Theodoridou M. Laina L. Hadiichristodoulou C. Syriopoulou V. Varicella-related complications and
1526		hospitalisations in a tertiary pediatric medical center before vaccine introduction. Fur L Pediatr
1520		2006.165(4).273-4
1528	86	Gil A San-Martin M Carrasco P Gonzalez A Epidemiology of severe varicella-zoster virus infection in Spain
1529	00.	Varcine 2004·22(29-30)·3947-51
1527	87	Gil A Ovaquez I. Carrasco P. Gonzalez A. Enidemiology of primary varicella hospitalisations in Spain. Vaccine
1531	07.	2001·20(3-4)·295-8
1532	88	Guillen IM Samaniego-Colmenero Mdl, Hernandez-Barrera V, Gil A, Varicella paediatric hospitalisations in
1533	00.	Spain Enidemiol Infect 2009/137(4):519-25
1534	89	Bonhoeffer I Baer G Muehleisen B Aehi C Nadal D Schaad IIB et al. Prospective surveillance of
1535	07.	hospitalisations associated with varicella-zoster virus infections in children and adolescents. Fur L Pediatr
1536		$2005\cdot164(6)\cdot366-70$
1537	90	Guillen IM Gil-Prieto R Alvaro A Gil A Burden of adult varicella hospitalisations in Spain (2001-2007) Hum
1538	70.	Varcin 2010:6(8):659-63
1539	91	Liese IG Grote V Rosenfeld F Fischer R Belobradsky BH v Kries R The burden of varicella complications
1540	,	before the introduction of routine varicella vaccination in Germany, Pediatr Infect Dis 1, 2008;27(2):119-24
1541	92	Brisson M. Edmunds W.I. Enidemiology of Varicella-Zoster Virus in England and Wales. J. Med Virol. 2003;70
1542	72.	Sunni 1.59-14
1542	93	Wagenpfeil S. Neiss A. Banz K. Wutzler P. Empirical data on the varicella situation in Germany for vaccination
1544	70.	decisions. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2004;10(5):425-30
1545	94	Emery C. Lancon F. Fagnani F. Pechevis M. Durand L. Floret D. [ENVOL study on the medical management of
1545	74.	varicella and its complications in French ambulatory care] Med Mal Infect 2006:36(2):92-8
1540	95	Gil & Conzalez & Ovaquez I. Martin MS. Carrasco P. The burden of severe varicella in Spain. 19952000
1547	75.	period Fur Enidemiol 2004/19(7):600-702
1540	96	Grimprel F, Levy C, de La Rocque F, Cohen P, Souhevrand B, Caulin F, et al. Daediatric varicella
1547	70.	bosnitalisations in France: a nationwide survey. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2007;13(5):546.0
1000	07	Mallet F. Maitre M. Delalande Dutilloul L. Marquet C. Mouterde O. [Evaluation of varicella complications
1551	<i>//</i> .	through a retrospective bospital survey in a pagiatric center over 16 years in France]. Arch Dediatr
1552		$2004 \cdot 11(9) \cdot 1145.51$
1554	QQ	Perez-Varza FG Arranz I Alustiza I Azkunaga R Ilriz I Sarasua A et al [Hospital admissions for varicella
1554	70.	complications in children and less than 15 years old] An Dediatr (Rarch 2002) 50(2)-220 22
1554	90	1 = 1 $1 = 1$ $1 =$
1550	77.	varicella in France 2003_{2007} Arch Pediatr $2000_{16}(A) \cdot 021_{2}$
1557	100	Digueras Arenas Al Otero Reigada MC Perez-Tamarit D. Asonsi Rotat F. Diosdado Ortin N. Sontos Durantoz
1550	100.	M [Hospitals rations for varicella in the Hospital Infantil La Fa, Valencia Spain, 2001, 2004] An Dediate (Pare)
1560		100 100
1000		

37

- 1561101. van Lier A, van der Maas N, Rodenburg G, Sanders E, de Melker H. Hospitalisation due to varicella in the1562Netherlands. BMC Infect Dis. 2011;11:85.
- 1563
 102. EUVAC.NET. Varicella surveillance report 2000-2007. Available from:

 1564
 <u>http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/varicella_report_2000_2007_euvacnet.pdf</u>.
- 1565
 103. EUVAC.NET. Varicella surveillance report 2008-2009. Available from:

 1566
 <u>http://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/varicella_report_2008_2009_euvacnet.pdf</u>.
- 104. Lowe GL, Salmon RL, Thomas DR, Evans MR. Declining incidence of chickenpox in the absence of universal
 childhood immunisation. Arch Dis Child. 2004;89(10):966-9.
- 1569 105. Cameron JC, Allan G, Johnston F, Finn A, Heath PT, Booy R. Severe complications of chickenpox in hospitalised children in the UK and Ireland. Arch Dis Child. 2007;92(12):1062-6.
- 1571 106. Spackova M, Muehlen M, Siedler A. Complications of varicella after implementation of routine childhood
 1572 varicella vaccination in Germany. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2010;29(9):884-6.
- 107. Dubos F, Hue V, Grandbastien B, Catteau B, Martinot A. Bacterial skin infections in children hospitalized with
 varicella: a possible negative impact of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs? Acta Derm Venereol.
 2008;88(1):26-30.
- 1576 108. Ziebold C, von Kries R, Lang R, Weigl J, Schmitt HJ. Severe complications of varicella in previously healthy 1577 children in Germany: a 1-year survey. Pediatrics. 2001;108(5):E79.
- 109. Marchetto S, de Benedictis FM, de Martino M, Versace A, Chiappini E, Bertaine C, et al. Epidemiology of
 hospital admissions for chickenpox in children: an Italian multicentre study in the pre-vaccine era. Acta
 Paediatr. 2007;96(10):1490-3.
- 1581 110. Frenos S, Galli L, Chiappini E, de Martino M. An increasing incidence of chickenpox central nervous system 1582 complications in children: what's happening in Tuscany? J Clin Virol. 2007;38(4):358-61.
- 1583 111. Bozzola E, Tozzi AE, Bozzola M, Krzysztofiak A, Valentini D, Grandin A, et al. Neurological complications of 1584 varicella in childhood: case series and a systematic review of the literature. Vaccine. 2012;30(39):5785-90.
- 1585 112. Rack AL, Grote V, Streng A, Belohradsky BH, Heinen F, von Kries R, et al. Neurologic varicella complications
 before routine immunization in Germany. Pediatr Neurol. 2010;42(1):40-8.
- 113. Lamont RF, Sobel JD, Carrington D, Mazaki-Tovi S, Kusanovic JP, Vaisbuch E, et al. Varicella-zoster virus
 (chickenpox) infection in pregnancy. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology.
 2011;118(10):1155-62.
- 114. Enders G, Miller E, Cradock-Watson J, Bolley I, Ridehalgh M. Consequences of varicella and herpes zoster in pregnancy: prospective study of 1739 cases. Lancet. 1994;343(8912):1548-51.
- 1592 115. Harger JH, Ernest JM, Thurnau GR, Moawad A, Momirova V, Landon MB, et al. Risk factors and outcome of
 varicella-zoster virus pneumonia in pregnant women. J Infect Dis. 2002;185(4):422-7.
- 1594 116. Lecuyer A, Levy C, Gaudelus J, Floret D, Soubeyrand B, Caulin E, et al. Hospitalisation of newborns and young
 1595 infants for chickenpox in France. Eur J Pediatr. 2010;169(10):1293-7.
- 1596 117. Gershon A, Takashaki M, Seward J. Varicella Vaccine. In: Plotkin S, Orenstein W, Offit P, editors. Vaccines.
 1597 6th Edition ed. Philadelphia: Saunders- Elsevier; 2013. p. 837-69.
- 1598 118. van der Maas NA, Bondt PE, de Melker H, Kemmeren JM. Acute cerebellar ataxia in the Netherlands: a study 1599 on the association with vaccinations and varicella zoster infection. Vaccine. 2009;27(13):1970-3.
- 1600 119. Katsafadou A, Ferentinos G, Constantopoulos A, Papaevangelou V. The epidemiology of varicella in school aged Greek children before the implementation of universal vaccination. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.
 2008;27(3):223-6.
- 1603 120. Rawson H, Crampin A, Noah N. Deaths from chickenpox in England and Wales 1995-7: analysis of routine 1604 mortality data. BMJ. 2001;323(7321):1091-3.
- 1605 121. Varicella-related deaths among adults--United States, 1997. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1997;46(19):409 1606 12.
- 1607 122. Kuter B, Matthews H, Shinefield H, Black S, Dennehy P, Watson B, et al. Ten year follow-up of healthy 1608 children who received one or two injections of varicella vaccine. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2004;23(2):132-7.
- 1609 123. Glaxo Smith Kline. Pirorix-Tetra® product monograph 2013. Available from: <u>http://www.gsk.ca/english/docs-pdf/product-monographs/Priorix-tetra.pdf</u>.
- 1611 124. Glaxo Smith Kline. Varilrix® product information 2012. Available from:
 1612 <u>http://www.gsk.com.au/resources.ashx/vaccineproductschilddataproinfo/371/FileName/AD9B409B9EEA1F4DF</u>
 1613 043132E6C8256CC/Varilrix_PI.pdf
- 1614 125. Weibel RE, Neff BJ, Kuter BJ, Guess HA, Rothenberger CA, Fitzgerald AJ, et al. Live attenuated varicella virus vaccine. Efficacy trial in healthy children. N Engl J Med. 1984;310(22):1409-15.
- 1616 126. Varis T, Vesikari T. Efficacy of high-titer live attenuated varicella vaccine in healthy young children. J Infect
 1617 Dis. 1996;174 Suppl 3:S330-4.

- 1618 127. Glaxo Smith Kline. Varilrix[®]. Summary of Product Characteristics 2013. Available from: http://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/medicine/9787/SPC.
- 1620 128. Li S, Chan IS, Matthews H, Heyse JF, Chan CY, Kuter BJ, et al. Inverse relationship between six week
 1621 postvaccination varicella antibody response to vaccine and likelihood of long term breakthrough infection.
 1622 Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2002;21(4):337-42.
- 1623 129. Watson B. Humoral and cell-mediated immune responses in children and adults after 1 and 2 doses of
 1624 varicella vaccine. J Infect Dis. 2008;197 Suppl 2:S143-6.
- 1625 130. White CJ. Varicella-zoster virus vaccine. Clin Infect Dis. 1997;24(5):753-61; quiz 62-3.
- 1626131. White CJ, Kuter BJ, Hildebrand CS, Isganitis KL, Matthews H, Miller WJ, et al. Varicella vaccine (VARIVAX) in1627healthy children and adolescents: results from clinical trials, 1987 to 1989. Pediatrics. 1991;87(5):604-10.
- 132. Shinefield HR, Black SB, Staehle BO, Matthews H, Adelman T, Ensor K, et al. Vaccination with measles,
 mumps and rubella vaccine and varicella vaccine: safety, tolerability, immunogenicity, persistence of antibody
 and duration of protection against varicella in healthy children. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2002;21(6):555-61.
- 133. Silber JL, Chan IS, Wang WW, Matthews H, Kuter BJ. Immunogenicity of Oka/Merck varicella vaccine in
 children vaccinated at 12-14 months of age versus 15-23 months of age. Pediatr Infect Dis J.
 2007;26(7):572-6.
- 134. Czajka H, Schuster V, Zepp F, Esposito S, Douha M, Willems P. A combined measles, mumps, rubella and
 varicella vaccine (Priorix-Tetra): immunogenicity and safety profile. Vaccine. 2009;27(47):6504-11.
- 135. Shinefield H, Black S, Digilio L, Reisinger K, Blatter M, Gress JO, et al. Evaluation of a quadrivalent measles,
 mumps, rubella and varicella vaccine in healthy children. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2005;24(8):665-9.
- 136. Gillet Y, Steri GC, Behre U, Arsene JP, Lanse X, Helm K, et al. Immunogenicity and safety of measles-mumps rubella-varicella (MMRV) vaccine followed by one dose of varicella vaccine in children aged 15 months-2 years
 or 2-6 years primed with measles-mumps-rubella (MMR) vaccine. Vaccine. 2009;27(3):446-53.
- 1641 137. Al-Abrawi S. Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis (JIA) in Omani paediatric population. Clinical and Experimental 1642 Rheumatology. 2011;29(2):412.
- 1643 138. Schuster V, Otto W, Maurer L, Tcherepnine P, Pfletschinger U, Kindler K, et al. Immunogenicity and safety
 1644 assessments after one and two doses of a refrigerator-stable tetravalent measles-mumps-rubelia-varicella
 1645 vaccine in healthy children during the second year of life. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2008;27(8):724-30.
- 1646
 139. Kuter BJ, Brown ML, Hartzel J, Williams WR, EvesiKaren A, Black S, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of a
 1647 combination measles, mumps, rubella and varicella vaccine (ProQuad). Hum Vaccin. 2006;2(5):205-14.
- 1648
 140. Knuf M, Zepp F, Meyer CU, Habermehl P, Maurer L, Burow HM, et al. Safety, immunogenicity and immediate pain of intramuscular versus subcutaneous administration of a measles-mumps-rubella-varicella vaccine to children aged 11-21 months. Eur J Pediatr. 2010;169(8):925-33.
- 141. Gillet Y, Habermehl P, Thomas S, Eymin C, Fiquet A. Immunogenicity and safety of concomitant
 administration of a measles, mumps and rubella vaccine (M-M-RvaxPro) and a varicella vaccine (VARIVAX) by
 intramuscular or subcutaneous routes at separate injection sites: a randomised clinical trial. BMC Med.
 2009;7:16.
- 142. Watson B, Rothstein E, Bernstein H, Arbeter A, Arvin A, Chartrand S, et al. Safety and Cellular and Humoral Immune-Responses of a Booster Dose of Varicella Vaccine 6 Years after Primary Immunization. J Infect Dis. 1995;172(1):217-9.
- 143. Halperin SA, Ferrera G, Scheifele D, Predy G, Stella G, Cuccia M, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of a
 measles-mumps-rubella-varicella vaccine given as a second dose in children up to six years of age. Vaccine.
 2009;27(20):2701-6.
- 144. Reisinger KS, Brown MLH, Xu J, Sullivan BJ, Marshall GS, Nauert B, et al. A combination measles, mumps,
 rubella, and varicella vaccine (ProQuad) given to 4- to 6-year-old healthy children vaccinated previously with
 M-M-RII and Varivax. Pediatrics. 2006;117(2):265-72.
- 145. Kuter BJ, Ngai A, Patterson CM, Staehle BO, Cho I, Matthews H, et al. Safety, tolerability, and immunogenicity
 of two regimens of Oka/Merck varicella vaccine (Varivax) in healthy adolescents and adults. Oka/Merck
 Varicella Vaccine Study Group. Vaccine. 1995;13(11):967-72.
- 1667 146. Gershon AA, LaRussa PS. Varicella vaccine. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1998;17(3):248-9.
- 147. Galea SA, Sweet A, Beninger P, Steinberg SP, Larussa PS, Gershon AA, et al. The safety profile of varicella
 vaccine: a 10-year review. J Infect Dis. 2008;197 Suppl 2:S165-9.
- 148. Chaves SS, Haber P, Walton K, Wise RP, Izurieta HS, Schmid DS, et al. Safety of varicella vaccine after
 licensure in the United States: experience from reports to the vaccine adverse event reporting system, 1995 2005. J Infect Dis. 2008;197 Suppl 2:S170-7.
- 149. Marin M, Guris D, Chaves SS, Schmid S, Seward JF, Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices Centers
 for Disease Prevention and Control. Prevention of varicella: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on
 Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2007;56(RR-4):1-40.

- 1676 150. Sharrar RG, LaRussa P, Galea SA, Steinberg SP, Sweet AR, Keatley RM, et al. The postmarketing safety profile
 1677 of varicella vaccine. 2000;19(7-8):916-23.
- 1678 151. Goulleret N, Mauvisseau E, Essevaz-Roulet M, Quinlivan M, Breuer J. Safety profile of live varicella virus vaccine (Oka/Merck): five-year results of the European Varicella Zoster Virus Identification Programme (EU VZVIP). Vaccine. 2010;28(36):5878-82.
- 1681 152. Hambleton S. Prevention of varicella and zoster by live attenuated VZV vaccine. Front Biosci. 2008;13:2696 704.
- 1683 153. Jacobsen SJ, Ackerson BK, Sy LS, Tran TN, Jones TL, Yao JF, et al. Observational safety study of febrile
 1684 convulsion following first dose MMRV vaccination in a managed care setting. Vaccine. 2009;27(34):4656-61.
- 1685 154. Klein NP, Fireman B, Yih WK, Lewis E, Kulldorff M, Ray P, et al. Measles-mumps-rubella-varicella combination 1686 vaccine and the risk of febrile seizures. Pediatrics. 2010;126(1):e1-8.
- 1687 155. Schink T HJ, Garbe E. Epidemiological study on febrile convulsions after first dose MMRV vaccination
 1688 compared to first dose MMR or MMR+V vaccination. In: Deutsche Gesellschaft für Medizinische Informatik
 1689 BuE, editor. 2012.
- 1690 156. Heininger U, Seward JF. Varicella. Lancet. 2006;368(9544):1365-76.
- 1691 157. Black S, Ray P, Shinefield H, Saddier P, Nikas A. Lack of association between age at varicella vaccination and
 risk of breakthrough varicella, within the Northern California Kaiser Permanente Medical Care Program. J
 1693 Infect Dis. 2008;197 Suppl 2:S139-42.
- 1694 158. Ozaki T, Nishimura N, Kajita Y. Experience with live attenuated varicella vaccine (Oka strain) in healthy
 1695 Japanese subjects; 10-year survey at pediatric clinic. Vaccine. 2000;18(22):2375-80.
- 1696 159. Siedler A, Arndt U. Impact of the routine varicella vaccination programme on varicella epidemiology in
 1697 Germany. Euro Surveill. 2010;15(13).
- 1698 160. Giammanco G, Ciriminna S, Barberi I, Titone L, Lo Giudice M, Biasio LR. Universal varicella vaccination in the
 Sicilian paediatric population: rapid uptake of the vaccination programme and morbidity trends over five years.
 Euro Surveill. 2009;14(35).
- 161. Clements DA, Zaref JI, Bland CL, Walter EB, Coplan PM. Partial uptake of varicella vaccine and the
 epidemiological effect on varicella disease in 11 day-care centers in North Carolina. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.
 2001;155(4):455-61.
- 1704 162. Chaves SS, Zhang J, Civen R, Watson BM, Carbajal T, Perella D, et al. Varicella disease among vaccinated persons: clinical and epidemiological characteristics, 1997-2005. J Infect Dis. 2008;197 Suppl 2:S127-31.
- 1706 163. Goldman GS. Varicella susceptibility and incidence of herpes zoster among children and adolescents in a 1707 community under active surveillance. Vaccine. 2003;21(27-30):4238-42.
- 1708 164. Guris D, Jumaan AO, Mascola L, Watson BM, Zhang JX, Chaves SS, et al. Changing varicella epidemiology in
 1709 active surveillance sites--United States, 1995-2005. J Infect Dis. 2008;197 Suppl 2:S71-5.
- 1710 165. Marin M, Watson TL, Chaves SS, Civen R, Watson BM, Zhang JX, et al. Varicella among adults: data from an 1711 active surveillance project, 1995-2005. J Infect Dis. 2008;197 Suppl 2:S94-S100.
- 166. Seward JF, Marin M, Vazquez M. Varicella vaccine effectiveness in the US vaccination program: a review. J
 Infect Dis. 2008;197 Suppl 2:S82-9.
- 1714 167. Spackova M, Wiese-Posselt M, Dehnert M, Matysiak-Klose D, Heininger U, Siedler A. Comparative varicella 1715 vaccine effectiveness during outbreaks in day-care centres. Vaccine. 2010;28(3):686-91.
- 168. Verstraeten T, Jumaan AO, Mullooly JP, Seward JF, Izurieta HS, DeStefano F, et al. A retrospective cohort
 study of the association of varicella vaccine failure with asthma, steroid use, age at vaccination, and measles mumps-rubella vaccination. Pediatrics. 2003;112(2):e98-103.
- 1719 169. Fu C, Wang M, Liang J, Xu J, Wang C, Bialek S. The effectiveness of varicella vaccine in China. Pediatr Infect 1720 Dis J. 2010;29(8):690-3.
- 1721 170. Sheffer R, Segal D, Rahamani S, Dalal I, Linhart Y, Stein M, et al. Effectiveness of the Oka/GSK attenuated
 1722 varicella vaccine for the prevention of chickenpox in clinical practice in Israel. Pediatr Infect Dis J.
 1723 2005;24(5):434-7.
- 1724 171. Lopez AS, Guris D, Zimmerman L, Gladden L, Moore T, Haselow DT, et al. One dose of varicella vaccine does 1725 not prevent school outbreaks: is it time for a second dose? Pediatrics. 2006;117(6):e1070-7.
- 1726 172. Marin M, Nguyen HQ, Keen J, Jumaan AO, Mellen PM, Hayes EB, et al. Importance of catch-up vaccination: 1727 experience from a varicella outbreak, Maine, 2002-2003. Pediatrics. 2005;115(4):900-5.
- 1728 173. Tugwell BD, Lee LE, Gillette H, Lorber EM, Hedberg K, Cieslak PR. Chickenpox outbreak in a highly vaccinated 1729 school population. Pediatrics. 2004;113(3 Pt 1):455-9.
- 1730 174. Outbreak of varicella among vaccinated children--Michigan, 2003. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.
 1731 2004;53(18):389-92.

- 1732 175. Arnedo-Pena A, Puig-Barbera J, Aznar-Orenga MA, Ballester-Albiol M, Pardo-Serrano F, Bellido-Blasco JB, et al.
 1733 Varicella vaccine effectiveness during an outbreak in a partially vaccinated population in Spain. Pediatr Infect
 1734 Dis J. 2006;25(9):774-8.
- 1735 176. Ampofo K, Saiman L, LaRussa P, Steinberg S, Annunziato P, Gershon A. Persistence of immunity to live 1736 attenuated varicella vaccine in healthy adults. Clin Infect Dis. 2002;34(6):774-9.
- 1737 177. Black S, Shinefield H, Ray P, Lewis E, Hansen J, Schwalbe J, et al. Postmarketing evaluation of the safety and 1738 effectiveness of varicella vaccine. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1999;18(12):1041-6.
- 1739 178. Haddad MB, Hill MB, Pavia AT, Green CE, Jumaan AO, De AK, et al. Vaccine effectiveness during a varicella 1740 outbreak among schoolchildren: Utah, 2002-2003. Pediatrics. 2005;115(6):1488-93.
- 1741 179. Lee BR, Feaver SL, Miller CA, Hedberg CW, Ehresmann KR. An elementary school outbreak of varicella 1742 attributed to vaccine failure: policy implications. J Infect Dis. 2004;190(3):477-83.
- 1743 180. Chaves SS, Gargiullo P, Zhang JX, Civen R, Guris D, Mascola L, et al. Loss of vaccine-induced immunity to
 1744 varicella over time. N Engl J Med. 2007;356(11):1121-9.
- 1745 181. Bonmarin I. [Avian influenza in human beings: epidemiological update and monitoring]. Med Mal Infect.
 2008;38 Suppl 2:S124-5.
- 1747 182. Bonanni P, Gershon A, Gershon M, Kulcsar A, Papaevangelou V, Rentier B, et al. Primary Versus Secondary
 1748 Failure After Varicella Vaccination: Implications for Interval Between 2 Doses. Pediatr Infect Dis J.
 1749 2013;32(7):e305-e13.
- 1750 183. Baxter R, Ray P, Tran TN, Black S, Shinefield HR, Coplan PM, et al. Long-term Effectiveness of Varicella
 1751 Vaccine: A 14-Year, Prospective Cohort Study. Pediatrics. 2013;131(5):e1389-96.
- 1752 184. Galil K, Lee B, Strine T, Carraher C, Baughman AL, Eaton M, et al. Outbreak of varicella at a day-care center 1753 despite vaccination. N Engl J Med. 2002;347(24):1909-15.
- 1754 185. Civen R, Lopez AS, Zhang J, Garcia-Herrera J, Schmid DS, Chaves SS, et al. Varicella outbreak epidemiology 1755 in an active surveillance site, 1995-2005. J Infect Dis. 2008;197 Suppl 2:S114-9.
- 1756 186. Bayer O, Heininger U, Heiligensetzer C, von Kries R. Metaanalysis of vaccine effectiveness in varicella
 1757 outbreaks. Vaccine. 2007;25(37-38):6655-60.
- 1758 187. Miron D, Lavi I, Kitov R, Hendler A. Vaccine effectiveness and severity of varicella among previously
 vaccinated children during outbreaks in day-care centers with low vaccination coverage. Pediatr Infect Dis J.
 2005;24(3):233-6.
- 1761 188. Quian RJ, Protasio PA, Dall'orso VP, Mas GM, Romero OC, Ferreira JN, et al. [Varicella outbreak in a village in 1762 Uruguay]. Rev Chilena Infectol. 2010;27(1):47-51.
- 1763 189. Kattan JA, Sosa LE, Bohnwagner HD, Hadler JL. Impact of 2-dose vaccination on varicella epidemiology:
 1764 Connecticut--2005-2008. J Infect Dis. 2011;203(4):509-12.
- 1765 190. WHO position paper. Varicella vaccines. Wkly Epidemiol Rec. 1998;73(32):241-8.

1768http://www.ema.europa.eu/ema/index.jsp?curl=pages/medicines/human/medicines/000622/human_med_0017690997.jsp&mid=WC0b01ac058001d124.

- 1770 192. European Medicines Agency. Monovalent and multivalent measles, mumps, rubella and / or varicella vaccines
 1771 2012 [cited 2013]. Available from:
- 1772http://www.ema.europa.eu/ema/index.jsp?curl=pages/medicines/human/referrals/MMRV/human_referral_0017730334.jsp&mid=WC0b01ac05805c516f#documents.
- 1774 193. VENICE. Varicella and herpes zoster surveillance and vaccination recommendations.2011. Available from:
 1775 <u>http://venice.cineca.org/report_final_varicella.pdf</u>.
- 1776 194. Recommendations of the Standing Committee on Vaccination (STIKO). Epidemiologisches Bulletin.
 1777 2010;30:279-98.
- 1778 195. Robert Koch Institut. Gemeinsamer Varizellen-Workshop von AGMV und BaVariPro [German]. Epid Bull.
 1779 2010;8:69-75.
- 1780 196. Streng A, Grote V, Carr D, Hagemann C, Liese JG. Varicella routine vaccination and the effects on varicella
 1781 epidemiology results from the Bavarian Varicella Surveillance Project (BaVariPro), 2006-2011. BMC Infect
 1782 Dis. 2013;13:303.
- 1783 197. Streng A, Seeger K, Grote V, Liese JG. Varicella vaccination coverage in Bavaria (Germany) after general 1784 vaccine recommendation in 2004. Vaccine. 2010;28(35):5738-45.
- 1785 198. Siedler A, Hecht J, Rieck T, Tolksdorf K, Hengel H. [Varicella vaccination in Germany. A provisional appraisal in the context of MMR vaccination]. Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz.
 2013;56(9):1313-20.
- 1788 199. Reuss AM, Feig M, Kappelmayer L, Siedler A, Eckmanns T, Poggensee G. Varicella vaccination coverage of 1789 children under two years of age in Germany. BMC Public Health. 2010;10:502.

- Hohle M, Siedler A, Bader HM, Ludwig M, Heininger U, Von Kries R. Assessment of varicella vaccine
 effectiveness in Germany: A time-series approach. Epidemiology and Infection. 2011;139(11):1710-9.
- 201. Streng A, Liese JG. Decline of varicella vaccination in German surveillance regions after recommendation of
 separate first-dose vaccination for varicella and measles-mumps-rubella. Vaccine. 2014;32(8):897-900.
- Liese JG, Cohen C, Rack A, Pirzer K, Eber S, Blum M, et al. The Effectiveness of Varicella Vaccination in
 Children in Germany: A Case-Control Study. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2013.
- 203. Servicio-de-epidemiologia. Boletin Epidemiológico de la Comunidad de Madrid. Varicela en la Comunidad de Madrid, años 2001 a 2009 (in Spanish)2010; 16(7):[3-22 pp.]. Available from: http://www.madrid.org/cs/Satellite?blobcol=urldata&blobheader=application%2Fpdf&blobheadername1=Content disposition&blobheadername2=cadena&blobheadervalue1=filename%3DJulio2010.pdf&blobheadervalue2=language%3Des
 %26site%3DPortalSalud&blobkey=id&blobtable=MungoBlobs&blobwhere=1271908141371&ssbinary=true.
- 204. Garcia Cenoz M, Castilla J, Irisarri F, Arriazu M, Barricarte A. Impact of universal varicella vaccination in
 Navarre, 2006-2010. Anales del Sistema Sanitario de Navarra. 2011;34(2):193-202.
- 205. Prevention of varicella: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP).
 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. MMWR Recomm Rep. 1996;45(RR-11):1-36.
- 206. Lopez AS, Zhang J, Brown C, Bialek S. Varicella-related hospitalisations in the United States, 2000-2006: the
 1-dose varicella vaccination era. Pediatrics. 2011;127(2):238-45.
- Nguyen HQ, Jumaan AO, Seward JF. Decline in mortality due to varicella after implementation of varicella
 vaccination in the United States. N Engl J Med. 2005;352(5):450-8.
- Luman ET, Ching PL, Jumaan AO, Seward JF. Uptake of varicella vaccination among young children in the
 United States: a success story in eliminating racial and ethnic disparities. Pediatrics. 2006;117(4):999-1008.
- 209. Zhao Z, Smith PJ, Luman ET. Trends in early childhood vaccination coverage: progress towards US Healthy
 People 2010 goals. Vaccine. 2009;27(36):5008-12.
- 210. Zhou F, Harpaz R, Jumaan AO, Winston CA, Shefer A. Impact of varicella vaccination on health care utilization.
 JAMA. 2005;294(7):797-802.
- Marin M, Zhang JX, Seward JF. Near elimination of varicella deaths in the US after implementation of the
 vaccination program. Pediatrics. 2011;128(2):214-20.
- 212. Civen R, Chaves SS, Jumaan A, Wu H, Mascola L, Gargiullo P, et al. The incidence and clinical characteristics
 of herpes zoster among children and adolescents after implementation of varicella vaccination. Pediatr Infect
 Dis J. 2009;28(11):954-9.
- Weinmann S, Riedlinge K, Roberts M, Rix M, Schmid D, Bialek S, et al. Herpes zoster in children in the
 varicella vaccine era 48th Annual Meeting of the Infectious Diseases Society of America; Vancouver, Canada
 2010.
- 1823 214. Leung J, Harpaz R, Molinari NA, Jumaan A, Zhou F. Herpes zoster incidence among insured persons in the
 1824 United States, 1993-2006: evaluation of impact of varicella vaccination. Clin Infect Dis. 2011;52(3):332-40.
- 1825 215. Seward JF, Zhang JX, Maupin TJ, Mascola L, Jumaan AO. Contagiousness of varicella in vaccinated cases: a
 1826 household contact study. JAMA. 2004;292(6):704-8.
- 1827 216. Marin M, Meissner HC, Seward JF. Varicella prevention in the United States: a review of successes and challenges. Pediatrics. 2008;122(3):e744-51.
- 217. Pierre R, Viner K, Spells N, Mohanty S, Lopez A, Daskalaki I, et al. Early Impact of 2-Dose Varicella
 Vaccination on Disease in West Philadelphia. National Immunization Conference; Atlanta, Georgia2010.
- 1831 218. Buttery VGS, Miller C. Estimation of Grade-Specific, 2-Dose Varicella Vaccination Coverage In Minnesota Using
 1832 School Immunization Record Data. National Immunization Conference; Washington DC2011.
- 219. Doll MRJ. Two-Dose Varicella Vaccine Coverage In Public Schools: New York City, 2009-2010. In: Zimmerman
 C, editor. National Immunization Conference; Washington DC2011.
- Brisson M, Edmunds WJ, Gay NJ, Law B, De Serres G. Modelling the impact of immunization on the
 epidemiology of varicella zoster virus. Epidemiol Infect. 2000;125(3):651-69.
- 1837 221. Gao Z, Gidding HF, Wood JG, MacIntyre CR. Modelling the impact of one-dose vs. two-dose vaccination
 1838 regimens on the epidemiology of varicella zoster virus in Australia. Epidemiol Infect. 2010;138(4):457-68.
- 1839 222. Karhunen M, Leino T, Salo H, Davidkin I, Kilpi T, Auranen K. Modelling the impact of varicella vaccination on varicella and zoster. Epidemiol Infect. 2010;138(4):469-81.
- 1841 223. Knuf M, Neiss A, Wutzler P. [Impact of universal varicella vaccination in Germany: an epidemiological and
 1842 economic analysis]. Klin Padiatr. 2006;218(4):203-12.
- Bonmarin I, Santa-Olalla P, Levy-Bruhl D. [Modelling the impact of vaccination on the epidemiology of varicella zoster virus]. Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique. 2008;56(5):323-31.
- Brisson M, Melkonyan G, Drolet M, De Serres G, Thibeault R, De Wals P. Modeling the impact of one- and
 two-dose varicella vaccination on the epidemiology of varicella and zoster. Vaccine. 2010;28(19):3385-97.

- 1847 226. Bilcke J, Jan van Hoek A, Beutels P. Childhood varicella-zoster virus vaccination in Belgium: Cost-effective
 1848 only in the long run or without exogenous boosting? Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2013;9(4).
- 1849 227. Gidding HF, Brisson M, Macintyre CR, Burgess MA. Modelling the impact of vaccination on the epidemiology of
 varicella zoster virus in Australia. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2005;29(6):544-51.
- Van Hoek AJ, Melegaro A, Zagheni E, Edmunds WJ, Gay N. Modelling the impact of a combined varicella and
 zoster vaccination programme on the epidemiology of varicella zoster virus in England. Vaccine.
 2011;29(13):2411-20.
- Brisson M, Edmunds WJ. The cost-effectiveness of varicella vaccination in Canada. Vaccine. 2002;20(7-8):1113-25.
- Brisson M, Edmunds WJ. Varicella vaccination in England and Wales: cost-utility analysis. Arch Dis Child.
 2003;88(10):862-9.
- 1858 231. Bilcke J, Marais C, Benson O, van Hoek A, Lejeune O, Callens M, et al. Cost-utility of Vaccination against
 1859 Chickenpox in Children and against Herpes Zoster in Elderly in Belgium2011; 151. Available from: 1860 https://kce.fgov.be/publication/report/cost-utility-of-vaccination-against-chickenpox-in-children-and-against 1861 herpes-zos.
- 1862 232. Mossong J, Hens N, Jit M, Beutels P, Auranen K, Mikolajczyk R, et al. Social contacts and mixing patterns
 1863 relevant to the spread of infectious diseases. PLoS Med. 2008;5(3):e74.
- 233. Ogunjimi B, Hens N, Goeyvaerts N, Aerts M, Van Damme P, Beutels P. Using empirical social contact data to model person to person infectious disease transmission: an illustration for varicella. Math Biosci.
 2009;218(2):80-7.
- Brisson M, Edmunds WJ. Impact of model, methodological, and parameter uncertainty in the economic
 analysis of vaccination programs. Med Decis Making. 2006;26(5):434-46.
- Thiry N, Beutels P, Van Damme P, Van Doorslaer E. Economic evaluations of varicella vaccination
 programmes: a review of the literature. Pharmacoeconomics. 2003;21(1):13-38.
- Rozenbaum MH, van Hoek AJ, Vegter S, Postma MJ. Cost-effectiveness of varicella vaccination programs: an
 update of the literature. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2008;7(6):753-82.
- 237. Soarez PC, Novaes HM, Sartori AM. Impact of methodology on the results of economic evaluations of varicella
 vaccination programs: is it important for decision-making? Cad Saude Publica. 2009;25 Suppl 3:S401-14.
- 238. Goldman GS. Cost-benefit analysis of universal varicella vaccination in the U.S. taking into account the closely
 related herpes-zoster epidemiology. Vaccine. 2005;23(25):3349-55.
- van Hoek AJ, Melegaro A, Gay N, Bilcke J, Edmunds WJ. The cost-effectiveness of varicella and combined
 varicella and herpes zoster vaccination programmes in the United Kingdom. Vaccine. 2012;30(6):1225-34.
- 1879 240. Pinot de Moira A, Edmunds WJ, Breuer J. The cost-effectiveness of antenatal varicella screening with post 1880 partum vaccination of susceptibles. Vaccine. 2006;24(9):1298-307.
- 241. Smith WJ, Jackson LA, Watts DH, Koepsell TD. Prevention of chickenpox in reproductive-age women: cost effectiveness of routine prenatal screening with postpartum vaccination of susceptibles. Obstet Gynecol.
 1998;92(4 Pt 1):535-45.
- 1884 242. Kitai IC, King S, Gafni A. An economic evaluation of varicella vaccine for pediatric liver and kidney transplant 1885 recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 1993;17(3):441-7.
- 243. Olson AD, Shope TC, Flynn JT. Pretransplant varicella vaccination is cost-effective in pediatric renal
 transplantation. Pediatr Transplant. 2001;5(1):44-50.
- 1888 244. Figueira M, Christiansen D, Barnett ED. Cost-effectiveness of serotesting compared with universal
 1889 immunization for varicella in refugee children from six geographic regions. J Travel Med. 2003;10(4):203-7.
- Merrett P, Schwartzman K, Rivest P, Greenaway C. Strategies to prevent varicella among newly arrived adult
 immigrants and refugees: a cost-effectiveness analysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2007;44(8):1040-8.
- 1892 246. Update: recommendations from the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) regarding
 1893 administration of combination MMRV vaccine. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2008;57(10):258-60.
- 1894 247. Marin M, Broder KR, Temte JL, Snider DE, Seward JF. Use of combination measles, mumps, rubella, and
 1895 varicella vaccine: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR
 1896 Recomm Rep. 2010;59(RR-3):1-12.
- 248. Goldman G. Short reply. A Significant Confounder in the Long-term Effectiveness of Varicella Vaccine, A 14 year Prospective Cohort Study.2013. Available from:
- 1899 <u>http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/131/5/e1389.short/reply#pediatrics_el_55572</u>.

1900 Annexes

1901 New evidence on 'burden of varicella in Europe'

1902 Search in PubMed

- 1903 From 1 September 2010 to 8 June 2012
- 1904 Total of 198 records, reviewed title of all
- 1905 Selected 20, review abstract
- 1906 Read full article of five
- 1907 Included: two
- 1908 Fernandez-Cano, Vaccine 2012

The susceptibility of healthcare workers to varicella was 7.45% (95%CI: 7.14 to 7.75). Healthcare workers born after 1980 were twice (95% CI: 1.2 to 3.2) as likely to be susceptible to varicella than those born before 1965.

- 1911 GUIDO, Journal of Clinical Virology 2012
- The prevalence of varicella susceptibility among pregnant mothers was 10.6% (n=539 samples). The prevalence of
- IgG antibodies increased significantly with age, from 62.5% in the age group 15–19 years to 94.4% in the age
 group 40–49 years.

1915 Search in Embase

- 1916 2011–2012 plus the string in the guidance
- 1917 Filter: human, major clinical studies, control study, chickenpox
- 1918 123 results
- 1919 Total of 11 selected for further reading abstract/full text
- 1920 Six repeated from Pubmed search/five to check if already included in the systematic review or pertinent (R7-R11)
- 1921 After reading abstract, two selected for reading the full article.
- Hospitalisation due to varicella in the Netherlands (p. 47)
- 1923 van Lier A, van der Maas NAT, de Melker HE, Rodenburg GD, Sanders EAM
- 1924 BMC Infectious Diseases 2011, 11 Article no. 85
- 1925 From a representative sample of varicella admissions in the Netherlands, complications were recorded in 76% of
- the patients. Bacterial super infections of skin lesions (28%), dehydration (19%), febrile convulsions (7%),
- pneumonia (7%) and gastroenteritis (7%) were most frequently reported. In a third of the hospitalised cases with
 complications, severe complications occurred.
- 1929 How frequent is varicella-associated pneumonia in children?
- 1930 Hervás D, Henales V, Yeste S, Figuerola J, Hervás J.
- European Journal of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases 2011 30:3 (435-437)
- More clinical approach to incidence in children hospitalised with varicella of bacterial pneumonia (53%), viral pneumonia (41%) and varicella pneumonitis (6%).
- 1934 In adults, varicella pneumonitis is the most important cause of morbidity and mortality in adult varicella.

1935 Modified tables from Pallas systematic review

1936 Table A. Seroprevalence of varicella in healthcare workers or medical students in Europe

Country	Author/year	Year	No.	Type of workers	Age group	Outcome
Belgium	Vandersmissen 2000 ³²	1996-1997	4923	Healthcare workers	All ages	99%
France	Reignier 2005 ³³	2001	251	Healthcare workers	26-62 yrs	99.6%
Germany	Wicker 2007 ²⁹	2005	223	Medical students	20-45 yrs	97%
Italy	Fedeli 2001 ³¹	1998-2001	333	Healthcare workers	23-60 yrs	98%
Slovenia	Socan 2008 ²⁸	2006	256	Medical students	18-32 yrs	98%
Switzerland	Baer 2005 ³⁰	1999-2003	170	Medical students	22-48 yrs	97%
Spain	Fernandez Cano 2012	2006-2008	2752	Healthcare workers	16-69 yrs 16-25 26-41 42-69	92.5% 12.2 8.1 6.6
				Medical students (interns) Medical staff		5.5 7.6

1937 Table B. Seroprevalence of varicella in pregnant women in Europe

Country	Author/year	Year	Groups	No	Outcome
Finland	Alanen 2005 ³⁸	2000	16-45	558	96%
France	Saadatian 2007 ³⁷	2005	<25 yrs 25-30 yrs 31-35 yrs 36-40 yrs >40 yrs	51 181 181 69 10	100% 99% 99% 97% 100%
Germany	Sauerbrei 2004 ⁶	1995-1996	16-41 yrs	215	97%
Italy	Guido	2008-2009	15-49 yrs 15-19 yrs 20-24 yrs 25-29 yrs 30-34 yrs 35-39 yrs 40-49 yrs	539 8 48 130 245 120 18	89.4% 62.5% 95.8% 86.9% 87.9% 93.3% 94.4%
Spain	Plan 2007 ³⁶	2003	15-24 yrs 25-29 yrs 30-34 yrs 35-49 yrs	295 386 537 304	94% 95% 97% 98%
	Suárez González 2002 ³⁹	1997-1998	<22 yrs 22-28 yrs 29-25 yrs >35 yrs	39 133 274 59	92% 92% 88% 100%
UK	Talukder 2007 ³⁵	2001-2004	White British women (28 ±6.4 yrs)		93%
			UK born Bangladeshi (24±4.5 yrs)	1040 in total	95%
			Bangladeshi-born (26±5 yrs)		85%

1938 1939 ^a Proportion of positive samples

1940 Records identified through database search and other sources (n =9357)

1941 Records screened (n = 5154)

1942 Full text articles acquired for assessment of eligibility (n = 156)

1943 Records excluded (n =4998)

- 1944 Full text articles excluded, with reasons (n = 31)
- Full text articles not assessed but may be relevant (n = 25).

New evidence on 'public health impact of varicella vaccination in Europe'

1948 Search in Pubmed

- 1949 From 1 September 2010 to 8 June 2012.
- 1950 Search (#11) AND #10 AND ("2010/08/01"[PDAT]: "2012/07/01"[PDAT])
- (Same strings as Pallas for varicella and herpes zoster (I) and for objectives 2,3,4 and 5, with the time limits).
- Total of 293 retrieved. After review of all titles and abstracts, six were selected. Following reading of the whole article, one did not include an incidence or a proportion as outcome, so five were included.
- Bozzola E, Tozzi AE, Bozzola M, Krzysztofiak A, Valentini D, Grandin A, Villani A. Neurological complications of
 varicella in childhood: Case series and a systematic review of the literature. Vaccine. 2012 Aug 24;30(39):5785-90.
 Epub 2012 Jun 5. PubMed PMID: 22683522.
- Goldman GS, King PG. Review of the United States universal varicella vaccination program: Herpes zoster incidence
 rates, cost-effectiveness, and vaccine efficacy based primarily on the Antelope Valley Varicella Active Surveillance
 Project data. Vaccine. 2012 Jun 1. [Epub ahead of print] PubMed PMID: 22659447.
- Marin M, Zhang JX, Seward JF. Near elimination of varicella deaths in the US after implementation of the vaccination program. Pediatrics. 2011 Aug;128(2):214-20. Epub 2011 Jul 25. PubMed PMID: 21788222.
- Manikkavasagan G, Dezateux C, Wade A, Bedford H. The epidemiology of chickenpox in UK 5-year olds: an
 analysis to inform vaccine policy. Vaccine. 2010 Nov 10;28(48):7699-705. Epub 2010 Sep 23. PubMed PMID:
 20869468.
- Pozza F, Piovesan C, Russo F, Bella A, Pezzotti P, Emberti Gialloreti L. Impact of universal vaccination on the epidemiology of varicella in Veneto, Italy. Vaccine. 2011 Nov 28;29(51):9480-7. Epub 2011 Oct 19.
- 1967 No extra references were found in Embase